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Since 2001, we have been delivering a consistent message about an  like coatings, petroleum, cosmetics, diesel OEM, purification and

enterprise in transition — a transformation executed during difficult additives — should contribute a stronger performance.

economic times. But a transition, no matter how dramatic, is of little

value if it doesn’t deliver results. I'm pleased to report that ours has. On balance, we expect to post modest earnings growth this year.,
We will continue to drive productivity, and we will take actions in

We have: markets that remain weak through 2004.
/7 Increased our free cash flow 50% (on a normalized basis after capital
expenditures and dividends); Even in difficult economic times, we have not backed away from
/' Improved our debt-to-capital ratio from 45% to less than 30%; investing in our technology and our future, This investment
// Increased our dividend 10% in 2003 and still grew free cash flow; continues to account for more than 4% of technology sales. During
// Driven our technology into new markets, which yielded more this period, our technology businesses have grown to 95% of
than $150 million in new revenues in 2003 and helped offset the earnings from a little more than 80%, and they will remain the
impact of economic decline; underlying source of our earnings growth going forward.
// Boosted operating margins 120 basis points in spite of price and
Ccost pressures; When it comes to technology, we have made great progress in
// Maintained a mid-teens return on average total capital; and eliminating the kind of “not-invented-here” thinking that can limit
// Generated a total return to shareholders of 15. 5% per year out- growth. We generate results today through alliances with companies

government agehcres.

During our transition, we also quietly and consistently exited legacy
or non-core businesses. These operations typically were inconsistent  In our core businesses, we assume that many of our products will be
with our core competenciesiand tended to be cyclical, with little obsolete in three to five years. As a result, we rarely replace a

orno het growth over time. The latest, most visible and largest was product in a vehic!e ora chemical plant w‘rth a carbon copy of the
% 10.30%: :

for us. Productivity makes our technology initiatives sustainable, and
that makes productivity a tool for growth,

little longer to catch their stride. The automotive market should
hold on a worldwide basis, while markets for our technologies




QOur passion for productivity is one of five fundamental elements, which,

taken together, create the mosaic that captures the new Engelhard.
// We are a surface and materials science company — those are
our core competencies;
// Propelled by a strategic context of being technology based and
market driven;
// Enabled by the ingenuity of our people;
// Enhanced by a passion for productivity; and
// Leveraged by a seamlessly integrated, decentralized operating culture.

We continue 10 aggressively communicate and put this platform into
action — internally and externally — because it's making a difference.
It has enabled us to unlock value long embedded in Engelhard,

and it has enabled us to create new value. It has become a rallying
and unifying force for our employees, who realize that today they
can pursue and deliver on opportunities that were not obvious, or
even visible, in the past.

company — not only a catalyst company or a pigment company or
ametals chemistry company. On the pages that follow this letter, we
take a closer look at how we deliver value through the application

of our expertise in surface and materials science.

We: drive:these competenciesby:being technology based ard market

like our Distributed Matrix Structure (DMS) platform, revolutionary

technology that is delivering significant value to petroleum
refiners arnnind the world

Ingenuity also fuels our passion for productivity. It sees a productivity
opportunity that others walk by day after day.

The fifth and final element of the Engelhard mosaic enables us to
maximize the value we create from the other four — managing

the company as a seamlessly integrated, decentralized enterprise
rather than as a federation of businesses.

This operating culture enables us to leverage all that's common
across our enterprise: our competencies in surface and materials
science; our strategic context of being technology based and market
driven; the ingenuity of our people; and our shared passion for
productivity. It enables us to leverage assets, knowledge, information
and human capital across the enterprise.

This strategic direction is transforming Engelhard. We are a different
company today, Even more important, we are a stronger company.
ransitions aren't easy,-and ¢ like to take this opportunity to

welcome our newest director, David L. Burner, former chairman,
president and chief executive of Goodrich Corporation.

Most of all, | want to thank our more than 6,400 people around the
world. It is their efforts and contributions that give life to a powerful

Barry W. Perry
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 1 2004

new:idea ofEngelhard. Their. ingenuity,-dedication and commitment:: ... =



WHAL DO WE DO AT ENGELHARD?
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W'ﬁl' jentific expertise allow us 10 do?

iR reactions and interactions on the surface of matenals (catalysis). |
._
Eontrol the way light behaves when it strikes the surface of our materials to create a variety o

BotIcal and functional effects {optical-efiectcreation). ... |
eunity liquids and gases or remove unwanted properties or impurities from them (purification |
g separagon). |

I L

mar t mX|m|z heir po en ial. We improve the productivity, cost-etfectiveness

mrm 0 t eir manufacturing processes. We give them more efficient, more effective
y (0 Mee |ncreaS| ringent air-quality regulations. We enable them to market enhanced
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WE CREATE VALUE
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// WE CAN CHANGE A PARTICLE’S SIZE AND SHAPE.

There’s serious science in most everything we do. Precision control of particle size and shape is
no exception. Particularly when some of the particles we work with are as small as one-ten-
millionth of a millimeter. (Yes, we work in the specialized realm of nanotechnology.) This unique
ability opens a wide range of intriguing possibilities — from pigments that bring images, text

and colors 1o life, to additives that give everyday materials like plastics and concrete more strength
and durability.




// WE CAN MAKE A PARTICLE ABSORB AND REPEL.
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gas like chlorine dioxide to safely purify water, keep pool filters slime-free ... even eliminate
musty odors from your hasement.




//WE CAN TURN ON A MATERIAL WiTH CATALYTIC ACTIVITY...
AND TURN IT OFF AGAIN, TCO.

You flip the light switch to find your slippers. We use chemical switches, or catalysts, to make
desired outcomes happen. When we catalyze the surface of a material - a highly specialized scientific
process — we can make that material do wondrous things. Like remove harmful pollutants from

the exhaust of a car or city bus, create pure cooking oils, or even make stronger plastics for everything
from toys to car bumpers to soft drink bottles. You might say our catalysts turn on business...

and the world.







// WE CAN PURIFY AND SEPARATE SUBSTANCES.
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// WE CAN MAKE THE SURFACE OF A PARTICLE GLOSSY
AND CONTROL HOW IT REFLECTS LIGHT.

We've always believed that if you can make light — a pretty slippery energy form — dance to the

tune of your choosing, you can do just about anything. We hate to brag. Engelhard science is

helping to determine the way light dances on the surface of materials — how it is reflected, refracted
or absorbed. Why? To create an almost endless variety of eye-catching effects... and useful
applications. Our technology can put the sparkle in a woman’s eye shadow, create the intriguing
colors and effects in auto finishes or add optical pizzazz to product packaging. And that’s

just the beginning.
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// \WE CAN CONTROL THE DEPOSITION OF PARTICLES.

We're talking about the precise application of an engineered material on a surface to perform a
desired outcome. A unique capability of ours. For example ... what can happen when an apple
grower deposits our specially sized and shaped particles on the fruit and leaves in his orchard?
He can yield a larger crop with little sun or insect damage. What about when we employ decades
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// WE CAN MAKE THE CONNECTIONS.

Our special science allows us to deliver a wide range of technalogies with an aimost limitiess array
of useful business applications. (We’re able to highlight just a sampling in these pages.)
There’s a certain beauty ... and power ... to our science and the technologies it makes possible.
We can apply them ... even mix and match them ... to create value for our customers in such

a varied and growing asscrtment of ways. (More efficient production processes, greater product
yields, cost-effective regulatory compliance...just to name a few.)







// WE CAN OPEN A WORLD OF POSSIBILITIES.

Today, these capabilities are helping us change the nature of products, markets and the world....
often in ways, and for customers, we never envisioned years ago. What more can these capabilities
enable? Our ability to deliver value through our science is limited only by our imagination,

ingenuity and the endless variety of answers we can summon to the question: What can we make
a particle do for you?
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2003 IN REVIEW 7/

C1//

CLEARING

THE AIR //

Chosen, with our
distributor in Hong
Kong, 1o participate in
one of the world's
largest diesel-engine-
retrofit programs to
reduce pollution from
older buses and
trucks in that busy
city. Nearly 30,000

engines will be fitted -

with.our Diesel ..
Oxidation. Catalyst: .
technology, which
reduces soot and
pollutants,

SHIMMERING
COLORS //
Developed and
marketed new
metal-oxide-coating
technologies for
makers of coatings,
plastics, inks and
cosmetics. New
pigments are
marketed under our
Reflecks Dimensions
line of effect pigments
for cosmetics and
Firemist Super

for coatings, plastics
and inks.

FLAP:HAPPY //

.- Leveraged .
Engelhard’s thermal-

spray-coating
technology to launch
anew application —
rebuilding flap
tracks, which extend
and retract airplane
wing flaps during
takeoffs and landings.
Our process delivers
higher quality repairs
and gets planes
back in the air two
weeks sooner

than conventional
methads.

02//

BOOSTING FUEL
YIELDS //
Launched a new line
of petroleum refining
catalysts called Flex-
Tec, based on our
high-performance
DMS technology

allows refiners to
produce more gasoline
from bottom-of-
the-barrel crude oil.

03//

CLEANING DIESEL
EMISSIONS //
Commercialized -
our unigue catalyzed
soot filter system

- for light-duty, diesel-

powered passenger

---cars, which-are very -

popular in Europe.

“Combined with a diesel

oxidation catalyst,

the system destroys
or traps more than
95% of hydrocarbons,
carbon monoxide and
500t particles.

04//

WATER SAFETY //
introduced new tech-
nology for cost-
effective removal of
arsenic from drinking
water. New ARM 200
adsorbents enable
smaller cities and
towns to meet tough
new standards for the
removal of arsenic
from drinking sources.
ARM 200 traps more
than 99% of arsenic -
as much as eight
times more than
older technologies.

VIRUSES BEWARE //
Obtained U.S.
Environmental
Protection Agency
certification for use

of our Aseptro!
antimicrobial against
animal tuberculosis
and a variety of animal
viruses. Aseptrol

is the active ingredient
in Quip Laboratories
MB-10°® Tablets,
designed for dis-
infecting dog kennels
and other animal
confinement areas.
Aseptrolis also being
tested for the
prevention of other
animal ilinesses,
including hoof-and-
mouth disease.

EYE-CATCHING
CARS //

Launched a new
effect for automotive
finishes. Qur Exterior
Lumina Pearl Radiance
pigment delivers
increased reflectivity,
color purity and
brightness. Exterior
Lumina Brass pigment
gives auto paints a
luxurious, metallic gold
effect. These pigments
also offer improved
humidity, adhesion
and chip resistance

in water- and solvent-
based coating
applications.

SOCKING YOUR
NOx OFF //
introduced new
CLEANOx and
OxyClean environ-
mental compliance
additives. These
technologies are a
component in enabling
petroleum refiners

to cost-effectively
meet government
regulations for the
release of polluting
nitrogen oxides (NOx)
into the air. The
additives use NOx-
control concepts
adapted from tech-

0o/

NIGE THREADS! //
The Lurex Company,
LTD in England
introduced new
threads featuring our
Aurora Fluoridgscent
film, which uses light-
interference technology
to create shimmering,
fluorescent colors.
The company will tar-
getthe threadstoa
wide range of apparel
and woven goods for
the youth market.

nology we originally ...

auto industry.
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* additive to help
- petroleum refiners ..

maximize yields from

“varying grades of

- crude oil. Derived
from our DMS tech-
nology platform,
Converter allows
refiners to optimize
their operations by
enabling them to
produce a wide
range of petroleum
products based
on market and
seasonal demand.

NEW CONVERTS //
Introduced Converter

08/

FUEL CELL
AWARDS //
Received an
Advanced Technology
Program award,

_ together with

TRAPPING
OFFENDERS //
Announced a new
too! to help car-
makers meet strin-
gent California and
federal standards
regarding evaporative
emissions — gasoline
vapors from fuel
tanks and other parts
of automonbiles other
than the exhaust
system. The tech-
nology uses a
specially engineered
material to “trap”
hydrocarbon
molecules in its
pores and channels.

Motorola.and the' -
University of -

& Michigan, to d_eveldp
T aminiature catalytic

.. devices such.as.. =..:
laptop computers and -

fuel cells could last
five to 10 times
Jonger than today’s
lithium ion batteries.
Also received a
Department of Energy
award to develop
new technologies to
recycle platinum
group metals from
fuel cells. This devel-
opment will be
critical to making
fuel cells economi-
cally viable.

09/

“TAMING LITTLE
 POLLUTERS //
~Launched new .. -
technology that -~

enables cost-effective
contral-of small- -

17/

CHINA BLUE
SKIES //

Broke ground for a
new plant in the
Paople’s Republic of

- China that will triple ~ * -

"-,:ourcapacityto_:_.

engine pollution. Our -+

-Duracat small-engine::
“catalystsreduce

harmful hydrocarbon
and carbon monoxide
emissions from two-
and four-stroke
gasoling engines.
These engines
power everything
from motorcycles
and mopeds to
lawnmowers and
chainsaws.

KEEP ’EM FLYING //
Reduced engine-
rebuild times for the
U.S. Navy's F-18
fighter jets. Engelhard
was able to cut the
time required to spray
coat combustors —
a critical part of

10//
HYDRO(GEN)
POWER //
Announced advanced
catalytic technology to
generate hydrogen
from natural gas and
other hydracarbon
fuels. Why hydrogen?
it powers fuel celis —
the potential energy
source of the future.
Engelhard supplies
many of the enabling
technologies for

fuel cell applications.

“produce emission:. oo

catalysts for that ‘
country’s automotive...c::.. .-

“industry. Since the -
Chinese government
" tightened its schedule”

 for improving air -

quality, orders for our
environmental cata-
lysts have grown.
That country's stated
desire is to be “on
par" with world-class
environmental
regulations by the
2008 Qlympic
Games in Beijing.

12//

KOREAN HONORS //
Named along with
our Korean partner,
Heesung, the first
three-time recipient
of the Five Stars
Award — the highest
business honor

I buners eanireach s iand exellence of

jet engine after- bestowed by Hyundai
burners — from six to Motor Company —
three days. After- for the quality

1,800 degrees our auto-emission
Fahrenheit and need catalysts.

to be changed every

600 engine runs.
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AND APPLIGATIONS

ENVIRONMENTAL
TECHNOLOGIES

/7 Casi-efieaive

/7 Improved air qualfty

// Imgreved sresuct
eo ) A Ee]

&U , ;
gm@ mﬁ lldiesel)

-/ Bus, truck and
@@M@@W@m 3
Q VanddM)

PROGESS
TECHNOLOGIES

/7 Enenced visks

// Envirenmentel compliencs
// Process improvemant

// Progiue! improvement

7/ Agriciifural chemicals

// Fais and olis

// Fing ehemicals

// Flawers and ragrances

/' Ges=To-liquids

Vi O[om@m

4 B E
%ﬁ?@[@u@ﬂ/ mEiIL C@@



APPEARANCE AND
PERFORMANGE
-TECHNOLOGIES

“Full-ioop” metel
MEFAgEMEnt ﬂty
// Riellaiths, cost-eliective G
rasy materal W r@t
E - perf@rmanc—e

" efifiehanty

/7 Enhanead) imagrs anc

'MJ,WM

@CC %ﬁ@i&mmﬁ

i

a
*@ i
':wmm@@@:s;
i

i Eé@i@f@ﬁ@

::;7:%‘ ﬂ 3 ﬂ“ﬁr

e
AR b n

FRF R i vereyevEn

// Agriulture

// Clisairer, heaiivier waitsr
'/ EnGrgy MEnagement

4 Emﬂrmm@m@ sompliencs
/7 Oaor elmination

2ea s E

5 uﬂ’“@@iﬂf@i@i

ArrAATRE

sttt
. Zﬁ'@v k3 ’; }'Y"'W

b iy
Mgkt o0
¥ Bk

-.-.n..-...umwr " 9
x4 a8 “

Autometive
e t@ @@c

H-Cosmnelics
ers-@nal
// @fm: m@ﬁ

01‘4;o--

'*"’ M:WQ’

".’:ﬂ'@:fo‘ Aﬁ"é‘ﬂ@"‘*

ey oc*fbc‘ i

AR

e
saw e s e rigay
RN,

TR
XA AR AR
P

7iSobyibla VB THuy

AR R Ry




aen ..‘.....‘...,-u uumu 1 m---ua-v--

g}[ . 821 “WJJ,@

WE@@W@@W
pm b Q’%@l’f

-r--..rtivvhy‘wrv

i

= .-;.” « .

z@;‘fuﬂux 1

w Pl (24
e

SR

-




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS //

Unless otherwise indicated, all per-share amounts are
presented as diluted earnings per share, as calculated
under SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.”

For a discussion of the Company’s critical
accounting policies, see page 37.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net sales were $3.7 billion in 2003, compared with
$3.8 billion in 2002 and $5.1 billion in 2001. Net earnings
were $234.2 million ($1.84 per share) in 2003, compared
with $171.4 million ($1.31 per share) in 2002 and
$225.6 million ($1.71 per share) in 2001.

Net earnings in 2003 include a royalty settle-
ment gain of $17.6 million, a charge of $4.8 million for the
fair value of the remaining lease costs of certain minerals-
storage facilities that the Company ceased to use
because of productivity initiatives and restructuring
charges of $5.6 million. In addition, a transition charge of
$2.3 million was recorded on January 1, 2003 as the
cumulative effect of an accounting change. Net earnings
in 2002 include an impairment charge of $57.7 million
associated with the Engelhard-CLAL joint venture, an
impairment charge of $4.1 million associated with an
investment in fuel-cell developer Plug Power Inc., a

charge of $1.9 million related to a manufacturing consoli-
dation plan and a $6.8 million insurance settlement gain.

The information in the discussion of each seg-
ment’s results discussed below is derived directly from
the internal financial reporting system used for man-
agement purposes. {tems allocated to each segment’s
results include the majority of corporate operating
charges. Unallocated items include interest expense,
interest income, royalty income, sale of precious metals
accounted for under the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method,
certain special charges and credits, income taxes, cer-
tain information technology development costs and
other miscellaneous corporate items.

Operating earnings in the Company’s “All
Other” category increased primarily from the royalty
settlement gain of $28.4 million ($17.6 million after tax)
reported in 2003 (see Note 6, “Special Charges and
Credits,” for further detail).

ENVIRONMENTAL TECHNOLOGIES

The Environmental Technologies segment markets
cost-effective compliance with environmental reg-
ulations, enabled by sophisticated emission-contro!
technologies and systems. The segment also provides




high-value material products made principaily from
platinum group metals,; as well as thermal spray and
coating technologies.

2003 Performance Sales|increased 22% to $831.4 million
and operating earnings increased 9% to $119.3 million.
Discussion The majority of this segment’s sales and
operating earnings are;derived from technologies to
control pollution from mobile sources, including gaso-
line- and diesel-powered passenger cars, sport-utility
vehicles, trucks, buses and off-road vehicles.

Sales increased primarily from the addition
of higher pass-through isubstrate costs and the favor-
able impact of foreign exchange, which collectively
accounted for approximately two-thirds of the sales
increase. Sales were also favorably impacted from
increased sales of advanced technology solutions to
the automotive markets. In addition, higher volumes
and a favorable product mix in both diesel OEM and
retrofit markets had a favorable impact on sales. Higher
sales were partially offset by $16.3 million on lower vol-
umes of emission-control systems for gas turbines used
in power-generation applications and by $12.1 million on
lower volumes to surface coating markets primarily
due to lower demand from the aerospace industry.

Operating earnings were higher from increased
sales of advanced technology solutions to the automo-
tive markets. Operating earnings were also favorably
impacted due to increased volumes and a favorable
product mix in both diesel OEM and retrofit markets;
the absence of costs in the year-ago period related to
rework for power-generation applications of $11.4 mil-
lion; the favorable impact of foreign exchange of $6.7 mil-
lion; and a manufacturing consolidation charge of
$3.1 million recorded in the second guarter of 2002,
The increase was partially offset by lower volumes of
emission-control systems for gas turbines used in
power-generation applications and lower volumes to
surface-coating markets. This decline resulted from a
strong year-ago first quarter in the energy market and
lower demand from the aerospace industry. Earnings
also decreased due to a management consolidation
and productivity initiative that resulted in a charge of
$5.3 million recorded in the first quarter of 2003; the
reversal of a warranty accrual of $4.9 million in the first
quarter of 2002 for a particular stationary-source,
emission-control capital equipment project as a result
of improved technology; the recognition of expenses of
$5.0 million due to customer-related financial issues;
higher depreciation costs of $4.3 million and higher
energy costs of $2.7 million.

Outlook This segment expects growth in sales and
operating earnings as emission-control regulations
become stricter around the world and address a much
broader range of emission sources. Demand from the
automotive market is expected to remain strong in
response to the Company’s development of several
new technologies. Although auto builds in our largest
market segments are forecasted to be flat in 2004,
ongoing productivity'improvements and increased
demand in Asia are expected to support modest

growth in this portion of the segment. A significant
decline in auto builds could have an unfavorable effect
on this segment, depending on the demand for plat-
forms where the segment provides catalysts.

In stationary-source markets, demand is
expected to remain soft for technologies related to
peak-power generation due to the current lack of fund-
ing for these projects.

Sales of advanced catalysts for medium- and
heavy-duty diesel trucks increased in 2003 and are
expected to expand in 2004 as new regulations begin to
take effect. Significant investment in research for
medium- and heavy-duty diesel continues in anticipa-
tion of more stringent regulations scheduled to begin
phasing in during 2005 and 2007.

This segment continues to work to reduce its
reliance on the automotive market by developing an array
of applications not only for medium- and heavy-duty
diesel markets, but also for non-automotive markets,
including technologies for motorcycles; small engines,
such as lawn and garden power equipment; charbroilers;
mining and construction; and ozone management.

2002 compared with 2001 Sales increased 5% to
$680.4 million and operating earnings decreased 23%
to $109.2 million.

Discussion Sales increased primarily from the addition
of higher pass-through substrate costs of $32.2 million,
an estimated 2% increase in worldwide production of
light-duty vehicles and higher volumes in both diesel
OEM and retrofit markets. Higher sales were reduced
by $15.8 million on lower volumes of emission-control
systems for gas turbines used in power-generation
applications and by $7.8 million on lower volumes to
surface coating markets.

Operating earnings decreased primarily from
higher expenses of $11.4 million associated with
rework for power-generation applications, higher
depreciation, depletion and amortization costs of
$5.5 million, a manufacturing consolidation charge of
$3.1 million recorded in 2002 and higher research and
development costs of $3.0 million.

PROCESS TECHNOLOGIES

The Process Technologies segment enables customers
to make their processes more productive, efficient,
environmentally sound and safer through the supply
of advanced chemical-process catalysts, additives
and sorbents.

2003 Performance Sales increased 6% to $569.2 million
and operating earnings increased 3% to $95.9 million.
Discussion Sales grew primarily from increased
demand for the new technologies offered to the petro-
leum-refining (DMS platform products and addi-
tives), polyolefin (Lynx platform) and gas-to-liquids
markets which aggregated $33.0 million and the
favorable impact of foreign exchange of $13.0 miliion.
Sales were reduced by $10.3 million due to lower
precious-metal prices, which are passed through to
chemical-process catalyst customers in Europe and lower




sales to chemical-process markets of $7.0 miilion prima-
rily from the timing of orders and related shipments.

Operating earnings rose primarily due to
increased demand for new technologies offered to the
petroleum-refining, polyslefin and gas-to-liquids markets;
lower raw material costs of $4.5 million (excluding nickel);
the favorable impact of foreign exchange of $5.4 million;
and benefits from productivity programs. These increases
were partially offset by a productivity initiative that
resulted in a charge of $2.6 million recorded in the
first quarter of 2003, higher energy costs of $5.7 million
and higher nickel costs of $3.5 million.

Outlook Sales and earnings growth in this segment are
expected to come from custom-process catalysts,
such as those that enable conversion of gas-to-liquids;
new catalyst and additive technologies for petroleum
refining; and increased market penetration for poly-
propylene catalysts. Continued cost management,
productivity improvements and product technology
advances should also contribute to earnings growth.
Capacity expansion of a polyolefin catalyst plant in
Tarragona, Spain is expected to come online in the first
half of 2004. Overall weakness in the chemical-process
market and relatively flat demand in the petroleum-
refining market are expected to continue for most of 2004.
2002 compared with 2007 Sales decreased 5% to
$538.8 million and operating earnings decreased 1% to
$93.0 million.

Discussion Sales and operating earnings were lower
in 2002 primarily from lower volumes to the chemical-
process and petroleum-refining markets. These
decreases were partially offset by increased demand
for Lynx 7000 polypropylene catalysts; NaphthaMax
refining catalysts and petroleum-refining additives,
which aggregated $37.2 million; the full-year inclusion
of a fats and oils catalyst business acquired from Sid
Chemie in October 2001; and the introduction of a new
gas-to-liquids catalyst in 2002. Sales were also
reduced by $17.6 million due to lower precious-metal
prices, which are passed through to chemical-process
catalyst customers in Europe.

Operating earnings were favorably impacted
by lower energy and raw material costs of $6.3 million;
the elimination of goodwill amortization of $3.6 million
related to the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”; full-year inclusion of $2.5 mil-
lion of results from the fats and oils catalyst business
acquired from Std Chemie in October 2001; and favor-
able impact of foreign exchange of $1.6 million.

APPEARANCE AND PERFORMANCE TECHNOLOGIES

The Appearance and Performance Technologies seg-
ment provides pigments, effect materials and perfor-
mance additives that enable its customers to market
enhanced image and functionality in their products.
This segment serves a broad array of end markets,
including coatings, plastics, cosmetics, automotive,
construction and paper. The segment’s products help
customers improve the look, performance and overall

cost of their products. In addition, the segment is the
internal supply source of precursors for most of the
Company’s advanced petroleum-refining catalysts.
2003 Performance Sales increased 1% to $653.8 million
and operating earnings decreased 20% to $69.5 million.
Discussion Sales increased slightly in 2003 as significant
sales volumes to the coatings, cosmetics, personal care
and automotive markets, and the net favorable impact of
foreign exchange of $5.8 million were partially offset by
lower volumes of mineral-based products to the paper
and industrial end markets. Lower volumes of mineral-
based products were attributed to continued weak
demand in the paper market and the loss of some vol-
ume to competition due to pricing.

Operating earnings were lower primarily from
a charge of $7.8 million recorded in the second quarter
of 2003 for the fair value of the remaining lease costs of
certain minerals-storage facilities that the Company
ceased to use because of productivity initiatives, lower
minerals sales volumes to the paper market, higher
energy costs of $11.3 million and higher costs related to
the start-up of a new manufacturing plant in China. This
decrease was partially offset by continued strong
growth in the colorant and effect-pigment markets.
Outlook Earnings growth within this segment is expected
to improve from the weak and mixed results reported in
2003. Sales and earnings to several major markets,
including coatings, cosmetics, personal care, automo-
tive and agriculture, are expected to continue their pat-
tern of growth. This growth is expected to be driven by
expansion of the segment’s technology base through
alliances and internal development, which should result
in new products, applications and served markets.

Earnings growth from mineral-based markets
is expected to improve in spite of a continued weak
paper industry outlook through most of the coming
year. This growth is expected to come from productiv-
ity improvements and sales increases to non-paper
markets. However, worldwide coated-paper consump-
tion has been relatively flat over the period 2001 to
2003 and down from the peaks reached in 2000. While
modest growth is expected over the next several years,
the hydrous kaolin market continues to be particularly
difficult. Brazilian producers have brought more than
1.5 million tons of capacity on stream since 1997. This
has exacerbated an over-capacity situation and led to
severe price competition, particularly as consolida-
tions have given paper producers greater purchasing
power. As a consequence of trying to maintain pricing
and capture energy surcharges, Engelhard has lost
market share, which will reduce 2004 volumes. How-
ever, to increase earnings in spite of these conditions,
there will be a continued emphasis on productivity and
efforts to focus on higher value end markets, including
non-paper applications. A series of actions were initi-
ated in the first quarter of 2004 to reduce costs by con-
solidating plant operations and reducing total
headcount. Recent calculations show no impairment of
long-lived assets, but continued volume and/or price
erosion could change the situation.




2002 compared with 2001 Sales increased 3% to
$650.8 million and operating earnings increased 87% to
$87.1 million.

Discussion Sales and operating earnings were up pri-
marily from increased sales volumes to the coatings,
automotive, agriculturali cosmetics, personal care and
plastics markets. Operating earnings were also favor-
ably impacted by lower costs from productivity improve-
ments of $21.5 million; the elimination of goodwill
amortization of $5.7 million related to the adoption of
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwilil and Other Intangible Assets”;
lower energy costs of $4.6 million; the recording of a
$7.1 million charge in 2001 relating to asset redeploy-
ment actions and productivity initiatives; and selec-
tive price increases in the paper market in the range of
3% t0 4%.

MATERIALS SERVICES

The Materials Services segment serves the Company’s
technology segments, their customers and others with
precious and base metals and related services. This is
a distribution and materials services business that pur-
chases and sells precious metals, base metals and
related products and services. It does so under a vari-
ety of pricing and delivery arrangements structured to
meet the logistical, financial and price-risk manage-
ment requirements of the Company, its customers and
suppliers. Additionally,; it offers the related services
of precious-metal refining and storage, and produces
precious-metal salts and solutions.

2003 Performance Sales decreased 12% to $1.6 billion
and operating earnings decreased 81% to $10.1 million.
Discussion Sales for this segment include substantially
all of the Company’s sales of metals to industrial cus-
tomers of all segments. Sales also include fees
invoiced for services rendered (e.g., refining and han-
dling charges). Becausé of the logistical and hedging
nature of much of this business and the significant pre-
cious metal values included in both sales and cost of
sales, gross margins tend to be low in relation to the
Company’s other technology businesses as does capi-
tal employed. This effect also dampens the gross
margin percentages of 'the Company as a whole, but
improves the return on investment.

While many customers for the Company’s
platinum-group-metal catalysts purchase the meta!
from Materials Services; some choose to deliver metal
from other sources prior to the manufacture of the cata-
lysts. In such cases, precious metal values are not
included in sales. The mix of such arrangements and the
extent of market price fluctuations can significantly affect
the reported level of sales and cost of sales.
Consequently, there is no necessary direct correlation
between year-to-year changes in reported sales and
operating earnings. ‘

Operating earnings were lower primarily from
the timing of certain items discussed below, changes in
pricing formulas that reduce margins and lower results

from the recycling (refining) of platinum group metals of
$9.3 million. Recycling earnings were down primarily
from higher costs associated with performance issues
at a domestic refinery and a less favorable mix of metals.
The performance issues, which are apart from the cur-
rent level of operations, are being actively addressed
by management.

Operating earnings in both years were favor-
ably affected by several items that triggered recogni-
tion of events reflecting operations from prior periods.
Operating earnings in 2003 benefited from a contract
settlement of $9.3 million and the reversal of an accrual
that is no longer necessary of $2.8 million. In 2002,
operating earnings were favorably affected by $22.0 mil-
lion of income related to platinum-group-metal trans-
actions realized previously but deferred pending the
resolution of certain contractual provisions, an insur-
ance settlement gain of $11.0 million, $5.5 million of
income related to a previously unrecognized contrac-
tual benefit and $3.0 million of income related to cash
received from the settlement of litigation for a customer
receivable recorded in 1997 that was previously written
off. The prior-year benefits were partially offset by
higher operating expenses from multiple causes,
including legal and compensation expenses. Sales
decreased from lower platinum-group-metal prices and
lower volumes.

Outlook The results of this segment are likely to approx-
imate recent levels rather than the higher levels of 2001.
Overall weakness projected in the chemical markets
should continue to adversely impact the recycling and
refining of platinum group metals. In addition, the seg-
ment is continuing to experience the change that has
been going on in these markets, which involves different
pricing formulas that have reduced historical margins.
2002 compared with 2001-Sales decreased 43% to
$1.8 billion and operating earnings decreased 6% to
$52.7 million.

Discussion Operating earnings were down as a result of
lower volumes and lower results from the recycling
{refining) of platinum group metals of $11.0 million. Oper-
ating earnings in both years were favorably affected
by several items that triggered recognition of events
reflecting operations from prior periods. In 2002, oper-
ating earnings were favorably affected by $22.0 million
of income related to platinum-group-metal trans-
actions realized previously but deferred pending the
resolution of certain contractual provisions; an insur-
ance settlement gain of $11.0 million; $5.5 million of
income related to a previously unrecognized contrac-
tual benefit; and $3.0 million of income related to cash
received from the settlement of litigation for a customer
receivable recorded in 1997 that was previously written
off. In 2001, operating earnings were favorably
impacted by the recovery of metal from an unexpected
industrial customer bankruptcy ($6.2 million) and the
restructuring of a professional services contract
($3.3 million). Sales decreased from lower platinum-
group-metal prices and lower volumes.




ACQUISITIONS

Other party Business arrangement Transaction date  Business opportunity

Shuozhou Anpeak  Acquired certain operating assets of a November 2002 Enhances the Company’s ability to provide

Kaolin Co., Ltd. China-based producer of calcined specialty mineral technologies to the
kaolin products for $12.1 million Asian market

S0d-Chemie AG Acquired the fats and oils catalyst October 2001 Broadens the Company’s catalyst tech-

(Sld Chemie) business of Stid Chemie for $13.6 million

CONSOLIDATED GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit as a percentage of sales was 17.1% in 2003,
compared with 17.4% in 2002 and 13.0% in 2001. The
following table represents gross margin percentages of
the Materials Services segment and the Company’s
technology segments (Environmental, Process and
Appearance and Performance Technologies) and “All
Other” for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001:

2003 2002 2001

Materials Services: v« - oreevens 2.3% 3.8% 2.9%
Technology Segments and

“ANOther” < rreeeienien 283% 304% 30.3%

Total Company - «-cxvvvvneeenens 171%  174% 13.0%

The overall decrease in 2003 was primarily due to lower
margins earned in the Materials Services segment and
in the Environmental Technologies segment primarily
due to higher pass-through substrate costs. Sales from
the Materiais Services segment decreased 12% in 2003
to $1.6 billion and provided a gross profit of 2%, while
2003 sales from all other reportable segments increased
10% to $2.1 billion and provided a gross profit of 29%.
As described earlier, the lower margins on Materials
Services sales are driven by the inclusion of the value of
precious metals in both sales and cost of sales. The over-
all increase in 2002 was primarily related to a $1.3 billion
decrease in sales from lower precious-metal prices.

SELLING, ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

Selling, administrative and other expenses were
$364.5 million in 2003 compared with $350.1 million in
2002 and $336.0 million in 2001. The increase in 2003
was primarily due to increased professional and legal
fees of $6.9 million, increased research and develop-
ment expenses of $4.9 million and increased informa-
tion technology expenses of $3.9 million. The increase
in 2002 was primarily due to increased information
technology expenses of $5.7 million, increased research
and development expenses of $3.9 million, increased
administrative rent expenses of $2.6 million and increased
professional fees of $2.4 million.

EQUITY EARNINGS

Equity in earnings of affiliates was $33.4 million in 2003,
compared with equity earnings of $16.2 million in 2002

nology offering to oleochemical markets

(excluding the impairment charge discussed below)
and $29.1 million in 2001. The increase was primarily due
to higher earnings from Engelhard-CLAL recognized in
liquidation resulting from the sale of platinum invento-
ries at favorable prices, realized gains on the sale of
an inactive facility and the strengthening of the Euro
versus the U.S. dollar, all in relation to projections made
at the time of the impairment. The decrease in 2002
was from gains reported in 2001 related to a change in
the mix of piatinum group metals used in its operations
and lower volumes due to the absence of divested
business units.

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company
recorded an impairment charge of $57.7 million associ-
ated with its Engelhard-CLAL joint venture (see Note 10,
“Investments,” for further detail).

LOSS ON INVESTMENT

In the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded
an impairment charge of $6.7 million ($4.1 million after
tax) associated with its Plug Power Inc. investment (see
Note 10, “Investments,” for further detail).

INTEREST

Interest expense was $24.3 million in 2003, compared
with $27.4 million in 2002 and $47.3 million in 2001.
Interest expense in 2003 decreased due to decreased
borrowings, partially offset by higher foreign short-
term interest rates. interest expense in 2002 decreased
from decreased borrowings and lower short-term
interest rates.

Interest income was $4.0 million in 2003,
$2.0 million in 2002 and $3.3 million in 2001. The
Company capitalized interest of $3.0 million in each of
2003, 2002 and 2001.

TAXES

The worldwide income tax expense was $64.2 million
in 2003, compared with $66.5 million in 2002 and
$79.7 million in 2001. The effective income tax rate was
21.3% in 2003, 22.5% in 2002 (excluding the equity
investment impairment charge of $57.7 million) and
26.1% in 2001.

The decrease in the worldwide effective tax
rate in 2003 was primarily the result of the recognition




of favorable tax variances from foreign tax credits, par-
tially offset by a shift inithe geographical mix of earn-
ings. The decrease in the worldwide effective tax rate in
2002 was primarily the result of higher percentage
depletion deductions and research and development
tax credits in excess of p}evious estimates (see Note 14,
“Income Taxes,” for further detail of variances).

The World Trade Organization has ruled that
the extraterritorial income (ETI) exclusion, which pro-
vides the Company withia tax benefit based on export
sales, is a prohibited export subsidy. As a result, ETI
rules are presently under reconsideration by Congress
and the repeal of this benefit is likely. In fiscal year
2003, export benefits reduced the Company’s effective
tax rate by approximately three percentage points. It is
not possible to predict iat this time the eventual out-
come of this matter and the impact to the Company.
However, if ETI is repealed and legislation that would
result in comparable benefits is not enacted, the loss of
the tax benefit to the Gompany will adversely impact
the Company’s effective tax rate and net income.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Working capital was $445.5 million at December 31,
2003, compared with $179.8 million at December 31, 2002.
The current ratio was 1.5 and 1.1 at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Thelyear-end market value of the
Company'’s precious metals, accounted for under the
LIFO method, exceeded carrying cost by $52.8 million
at December 31, 2003, compared with $58.3 million at
December 31, 2002. The decrease in excess value
reflects lower market values and the impact of slightly
reduced inventory levels (see Note 8, “Inventories,” for
further detail).

The Company's total debt decreased to
$458.8 million at December 31, 2003 from $596.6 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002. The percentage of total
debt to total capitalization decreased to 26% at
December 31, 2003 from 36% at December 31, 2002,
primarily due to decreased borrowings and increased
retained earnings.

The Company icurrently has a $400 million,
five-year committed credit facility that expires in May 2006
and a $400 million, 364-day committed credit facility
that expires in May 2004, with a group of major U.S.
and overseas banks. The Company intends to renew,
and possibly increase, the $400 million committed line
of credit that expires m May 2004. In addition, the
Company has a $12 million, seven-year committed
credit facility with two major foreign banks that expires
in October 2010 relating to a plant expansion in China.
Unused, uncommitted lines of credit were $428 million
at December 31, 2003. |

Through a public debt offering in May 2003,
the Company issued $150 million of 10-year notes.
These notes mature on May 15, 2013 and bear an inter-
est rate of 4.25%. The |proceeds were used to repay
short-term borrowings. As discussed in Note 2,
“Derivative Instruments and Hedging,” these notes

were effectively changed from a fixed rate debt obliga-
tion to a floating rate debt obligation through the use of
interest rate swap agreements. The notes were issued
under the Company'’s existing $300 million shelf registra-
tion, effectively reducing the available shelf registration
to $150 million. Plans to increase the shelf registration
up to $450 million are under consideration by man-
agement. Plans to issue $50 million to $150 million in
Japanese yen denominated notes are also under con-
sideration by management.

Operating activities provided net cash of
$631.0 million in 2003, compared with $302.3 million in
2002 and $345.8 million in 2001. The variance in cash
flows from operating activities primarily occurred in the
Materials Services segment and reflects changes in
metal positions used to facilitate requirements of the
Company, its metal customers and suppliers (see
Note 24, “Supplemental Information,” for Materials
Services variances). Due to changing customer/
supplier relationships with respect to platinum group
metals, the levels of committed metal positions and
hedged metal obligations have been reduced by
approximately half from those of the last several years.
Current levels are expected to prevail for at least the
next year. Materials Services routinely enters into a
variety of arrangements for the sourcing of metals.
Generally, transactions are hedged on a daily basis
(see Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies,” for further detail). Hedging is accomplished
primarily through forward, future and option contracts.
However, in closely monitored situations for which
exposure levels have been set by senior management,
the Company, from time to time, holds large unhedged
industrial commodity positions that are subject to
future market price fluctuations. These positions are
included in committed metal positions, along with
hedged metal holdings. The bulk of hedged metal obli-
gations represent spot short positions. As these posi-
tions generate cash, their cash effect is included in the
financing activities section of the Company’s
“Consoclidated Statements of Cash Flows.” Other than
in closely monitored situations, these positions are
hedged with forward purchases. In addition, the aggre-
gate fair value of derivatives in a loss position are
reported in hedged metal obligations (derivatives in a
gain position are included in committed metal posi-
tions). Materials Services works to ensure that the
Company and its customers have an uninterrupted
source of metals, primarily platinum group metals, uti-
lizing supply contracts and commodities markets
around the world. Committed metal positions may
include significant advances made for the purchase of
precious metals that have been delivered to the
Company but for which the final purchase price has not
yet been determined. As of December 31, 2003, the
aggregate market value of the metals purchased under
a contract for which a provisional price had been paid
was in excess of the amounts advanced by a total of
$92.9 million. As a result, this amount was recorded in




committed metal positions and accounts payable at
December 31, 20083.

The variance in cash flows from investing
activities is primarily related to liquidating distributions
received in connection with the 2002 plan to unwind the
Company’s Engelhard-CLAL joint venture, the acquisi-
tion of certain operating assets of Shuozhou Anpeak
Kaolin Co., Ltd. in November 2002, an additional
non-equity investment in fuel-cell developer Plug

Power inc. in 2002 and the acquisition of the fats and
oils catalyst business of Sid Chemie in October 2001.

The variance in cash flows from financing activ-
ities was impacted by a change in hedged metal obliga-
tions (as discussed on page 34), proceeds received from
the issuance of long-term debt in May 2003, a decrease
in short-term borrowings, the repayment of long-term
debt in 2001 and cash received from the exercise of
stock options, particularly in 2001.

The following table is a representation of the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2003
(the notes below provide further detail with regard to the Company’s purchase obligations):

PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

Contractual Obligations

(in millions)

Short-term DOrrowings «+«correrrrrer i
Accounts payab'e ......................................................

Other current liabilities

Hedged metal obligations -+« errrrrrrere e
Long.term debt i
Operating [EASES v v vttt e

Purchase obligations - metal supply contracts®@

Other purchase obligations®) -« «---vvev e

Other long-term liabilities reflected on the balance sheet

under GAAPC) o
Total contractual obligations <« - crorrerreiinn

Less More

than 2-3 4-5 than

Total 1 year years _years 5years

-------- $ 683 $ 683 % - $ - & -
-------- 297.0 297.0 - - -
--------- 286.9 286.9 - - -
--------- 295.8 295.8 - - =
......... 390.6 - 126.8 0.1 263.7
-------- 169.9 33.8 384 28.4 69.3
--------- 1,919.6 594.0 460.6 4325 432.5
-------- 62.9 41.9 11.4 94 0.2
........ 183.6 - 68.6 40.8 74.2
--------- $3,6746  $1,617.7 $705.8  $511.2 $839.9

(a) These amounts reflect minimum purchase obligations for the purchase of platinum group metals assuming the December 31, 2003 prices for the various metals continue
into the specified future periods. However, these are not fixed price arrangements; the prices are based on future market prices. As a result, the Company will be able to

hedge the purchases with sales at those future prices.

(b} Amounts primarily relate to purchase orders for raw material purchases and warehousing- and transportation-related costs.
(c) Amoaunts primarily relate to postretirement/postemployment obligations (see Note 16, “Benefits,” for further detail), with the remainder consisting of executive deferred
compensation, SFAS No. 143 asset retirement obligations (see Note 4, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” for further detail) and the long-term portion of the

environmental reserve (see Note 21, “Environmental Costs,” for further detail).

in the normal course of business, the Company incurs
obligations with regard to contract completion and
product performance. Under certain circumstances,
these obligations are supported through the issuance
of letters of credit. At December 31, 2003, the aggre-
gate outstanding amount of letters of credit supporting
such obligations amounted to $122.6 million, of which
$114.0 million will expire in less than one year, $8.5 mil-
lion will expire in two to three years and $0.1 million will
expire after five years. In the opinion of management,
such obligations will not significantty affect the Company’s
financial position or results of operations as the Company
anticipates fulfilling its performance obligations.

At December 31, 2003, the Company did not
have any guarantees of any unconsolidated subsidi-
ary or third party obligations.

The Company has consistently derived con-
siderable cash flow from operations, which has been
used, along with both short- and long-term debt, to pay
for capital expenditures, acquisitions, dividends and
other corporate requirements. The continuation of
these levels of cash flow is expected, but is subject to
the risk factors listed elsewhere in this report (particu-
larly in the Forward-Looking Statements section on
page 40). In addition, the Company has always main-
tained investment-grade credit ratings that it considers
important for cost-effective and ready access to the

credit markets. Management fully expects to be able to
obtain future funding from both short- and long-term
debt for cash requirements in excess of cash flow from
operations. In the event that any of these sources prove
to be below expectations, the Company has access to
committed lines of credit aggregating $810 million as of
December 31, 2003. Management intends to renew,
and possibly increase, the $400 million committed line
of credit that expires in May 2004.

CREDIT RISK

The Company believes that its financial instruments do
not represent a concentration of credit risk because the
Company deals with a variety of major banks world-
wide and its accounts receivable are spread among a
number of major industries, customers and geographic
areas. A centralized credit committee reviews signifi-
cant credit transactions and risk-management issues
before granting of credit, and an appropriate level of
reserves is maintained. In addition, the Company moni-
tors the status of accounts receivable and the financial
condition of its customers to help ensure collections
and to minimize losses.

The Company may enter into transactions in
which it advances funds after receipt of metal as provi-
sional payment for the metal which is to be finally




priced under market-based pricing formulae that will
result in a determinationiof that price. If the final price is
less than the provisional price paid, the supplier will be
obligated to return the difference to the Company.
Therefore, if the market price (and the anticipated final
price) falls below the provisional price, the Company is
exposed to the potential credit risk associated with the
possibility of non-payment by the supplier, although no
payment is due until aftér the final price is determined.
As of December 31, 2003, the aggregate market value
of metals purchased under a contract for which a
provisional price had been paid was in excess of the
amounts advanced byia total of $92.9 million. As a
result, this amount was recorded in committed metal
positions and accounts|payable at December 31, 2003
and no current credit risk exists.

MARKET RISK SENSITIVE ﬂ'RANSACTIONS

The Company is exposed to market risks arising from
adverse changes in inierest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates and commodity prices. In the normal
course of business, the Company uses a variety of
techniques and instruments, including derivatives, as
part of its overall risk-management strategy. The
Company enters into derivative agreements with a
diverse group of major ifinancial and other institutions
with individually determined credit limits to reduce expo-
sure to the risk of nonperformance by counterparties.
Interest Rate RiskThe Company uses a sensitivity analysis
to assess the market risk of its debt-related financial
instruments and derivatives. Market risk is defined here
as the potential change in the fair value of debt resulting
from an adverse movement in interest rates. The fair value
of the Company's total debt was $477.5 million at
December 31, 2003 and; $616.6 million at December 31,
2002, based on averagei market quotations of price and
yields provided by investment banks. A 100 basis-point
increase in interest ratesicould result in a reduction in the
fair value of total debt of $27.8 million at December 31,
2003, compared with $18.8 million at December 31, 2002.
The Company also uses interest rate deriva-
tives to help achieve its fixed and floating rate debt
objectives. The Company currently has two interest
rate swap agreements! with a total notional value of
$100 million maturing in August 2006 and three interest
rate swap agreements! with a total notional value of
$150 million maturing in May 2013. These agreements
effectively change fixed rate debt obligations into floating
rate obligations. The total notional values and maturity
dates of these agreements are equal to the face values
and the maturity dates of the related debt instruments.
Approximately 69% and 76% of the Company’s
borrowings had variable interest rates as of December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate RiskThe Company uses
a variety of strategies, including foreign currency for-
ward contracts, to minimize or eliminate foreign cur-
rency exchange rate risk associated with its foreign
currency transactions, 'including metal-related trans-
actions denominated injother than U.S. dollars.

The Company uses a sensitivity analysis to
assess the market risk associated with its foreign cur-
rency transactions. Market risk is defined here as the
potential change in fair value resulting from an adverse
movement in foreign currency exchange rates. A 10%
adverse movement in foreign currency rates could
result in a net loss of $14.7 million at December 31,
2003, compared with $13.3 million at December 31, 2002,
on the Company’s foreign currency forward contracts.
However, since the Company limits the use of foreign
currency derivatives to the hedging of contractual and
anticipated foreign currency payables and receivables,
this loss in fair value for those instruments generally
would be offset by a gain in the value of the underlying
payable or receivable.

A 10% adverse movement in foreign currency

rates could result in an unrealized loss of $63.3 million
at December 31, 2003, compared with $40.9 million at
December 31, 2002, on the Company’s net investment
in foreign subsidiaries and affiliates. However, since the
Company views these investments as long term, the
Company would not expect such a loss to be realized in
the nearterm.
Commodity Price RiskIn closely monitored situations,
for which exposure levels and transaction size limits
have been set by senior management, the Company,
from time to time, holds large, unhedged industrial
commodity positions that are subject to market price
fluctuations. Such positions may include varying levels
of derivative commodity instruments. Ail unhedged
industrial commodity transactions are monitored and
marked to market daily. All other industrial commodity
transactions are hedged on a daily basis, using for-
ward, future, option or swap contracts to substantially
eliminate the exposure to price risk. These positions are
also marked to market daily.

The Company performed a “value-at-risk”
analysis on all of its metai-related commodity assets and
liabilities. The “value-at-risk” calculation is a statistical
model that uses historical price and volatility data to
predict market risk on a one-day interval with a 35%
confidence level. While the “value-at-risk” models are
relatively sophisticated, the quantitative information
generated is limited by the historical information used in
the calculation. For example, the volatility in the platinum
and palladium markets in 2001 and 2000 was much
greater than historical norms. Therefore, the Company
uses this model only as a supplement to other risk man-
agement tools and not as a substitute for the experience
and judgment of senior management and dealers who
have extensive knowledge of the markets and adjust
positions and revise strategies as the markets change.
Based on the “value-at-risk” analysis in the context of a
95% confidence level, the maximum potential one-day
loss in fair value was approximately $3.3 million at
December 31, 2003, compared with $6.0 million as of
December 31, 2002. The actual one-day changes in fair
value of the Company’s metal-related commodity assets
and liabilities never exceeded the average of the “value-
at-risk” amounts as of the yearly open and close for each
of the Company’s 2003 and 2002 fiscal years.




The Company is also exposed to commodity
price risk on the unhedged portion of its natural gas pur-
chases related to its purchase of natural gas that is used
in the manufacture of its products. As of December 31,
2003, the Company has hedged approximately 48% of
its expected natural gas purchases for 2004. At
December 31,2003, a uniform one-dollar increase in the
price of natural gas would result in a decrease in oper-
ating earnings of approximately $5.1 million for the year
ending December 31, 2004 based upon the Company’s
unhedged portion of its expected natural gas pur-
chases for 2004.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, COMMITMENTS
AND CONTINGENCIES

Capital projects are designed to maintain capacity,
expand operations, improve efficiency or protect
the environment. Capital expenditures amounted to
$113.6 million in 2003, $113.3 million in 2002 and
$168.9 million in 2001. Capital expenditures in 2004 are
expected to be approximately $135.0 million. For infor-
mation about commitments and contingencies, see
Note 21, “Environmental Costs” and Note 22, “Litigation
and Contingencies.”

DIVIDENDS AND GAPITAL STOCK

Common stock dividends paid were $0.41 per share in
2003 and $0.40 per share in each of 2002 and 2001.

PERU UPDATE

See Note 22, “Litigation and Contingencies,” for a dis-
cussion of Peru.

SPECIAL CHARGES AND CREDITS

See Note 6, “Special Charges and Credits,” for a dis-
cussion of the Company’s special charges and credits.

OTHER MATTERS

See Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,”
for a discussion of new accounting pronouncements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

See Note 15, “Related Party Transactions,” for a discus-
sion of related party transactions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Certain key policies are explained below to assist
in understanding the Company’s consolidated finan-
cial statements. More detailed explanations may be
found elsewhere in the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (MD&A) section and in Note 1, “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies.”

Sales A significant portion of consolidated net sales
represent the sale of platinum group metals to industrial
customers who buy the metals from Materials Services
in connection with products manufactured by the
Environmental and Process Technologies segments.
Accordingly, almost all of these sales are reported in
the Materials Services segment, with a limited amount
included in Environmental and Process Technologies’
reported sales. Because metal price levels may vary
widely, there is no consistent relationship between
consolidated sales and gross profit.

Because the timing of the purchase of spot
metals often does not coincide with the timing of the
subsequent sales to industrial users, Materials Serv-
ices needs to hedge price risk, usually by selling for-
ward (i.e., for future delivery) to investment-grade
trading entities, industrial companies or on futures
exchanges. If a surplus of physical metal develops,
Materials Services may also sell spot and buy forward
to balance the risk position. Other than hedges entered
into with industrial customers, sales related to these
hedging transactions are not included in reported sales,
as they are not meaningful in an industrial context.

Customers of the Environmental and Process
Technologies segments who purchase products that
improve efficiency and yields are often unable to pre-
cisely predict the dates that catalysts will be required.
Accordingly, they may request that product that has
already been ordered, manufactured and prepared for
shipment at the agreed upon date be temporarily heid
by the Company until that customer’s manufacturing
facility is prepared to accept the new charge of catalyst.
In cases where the customer requests the Company to
hold the goods, agrees to be invoiced and to pay the
invoices on normal terms, as well as to accept title to
the goods, the Company will recognize the sale prior to
shipment. Great care is exercised to make sure that
these sales are only recognized in accordance with the
applicable revenue recognition guidance.
Mark-to-market Materials Services procures physical
metal from third parties for resale and enters into for-
ward contracts and other reiatively straight-forward
hedging derivatives that are recorded as either assets or
liabilities at their fair value. By acting in its capacity as a
distributor and materials service provider to the
Company’s technology businesses and their customers
and by taking closely monitored unhedged positions as
described below, Materials Services takes on the attri-
butes of a dealer in metals. Both spot metal and deriva-
tive instruments used in hedging (i.e., forwards, futures,
swaps and options) are stated at fair value. The Company
values platinum, pailadium, gold and silver based on
the daily closing New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX)
settlement prices. There are no so-called “terminal” mar-
kets for rhodium, ruthenium and iridium, so the Company’s
own published Industrial Bullion (EIB) prices are used.
However, these are compared to other reference prices
published in Metals Week, an independent trade journal.
Values for base metals come from the closing prices of
the London Metals Exchange (LME).




In closely monjtored situations, for which expo-
sure levels and transaction size limits have been set by
senior management, the Company holds unhedged
metal positions that are subject to future market fluctu-
ations. Such positions may include varying levels of
derivative instruments. /At times, these positions can be
significant. All unhedgéed metal transactions are moni-
tored and marked to market daily. The portion of this
metal that has not been hedged is therefore subject to
price risk and is disclosed in Note 11, “Committed Metal
Positions and Hedged Metal Obligations.”

The fair values of Materials Services’ various

spot and derivative positions are included in com-
mitted metal positions on the asset side of the consoli-
dated balance sheet and hedged metal obligations on
the liability side. The credit (performance) risk associ-
ated with the fair value|of derivatives in a gain position
is greatly mitigated through the selection of invest-
ment-grade counterparties.
Precious Metals Mostiof the platinum group metals
used by Environmental and Process Technologies to
manufacture products are provided in advance by the
customers. The customers often purchase these met-
als from Materials Services, but they may also be
shipped in from other sources.

Certain quantities of precious metais are car-

ried at historical cost using the LIFO method, which
provides a better matching of current costs with current
revenues. Because most of the metal was acquired
some time ago, the market value of this metal, while
fluctuating from year to year, has generally been sub-
stantially above cost. While this excess of market over
cost is useful in evaluating the consolidated balance
sheet from a credit pefrspective, the annual changes
are not reflected in the income statement except to the
extent that periodic quQidations of LIFO tayers produce
book profits. LIFO liquidation profits are separately dis-
closed and not included in the operating earnings of the
technology segments. .
Provision for Environmental Remediation As addressed
in Note 21, “Environmernital Costs,” the Company is cur-
rently preparing, has under review, or is implementing
environmental investigaiions and cleanup plans at sev-
eral currently or formerly owned and/or operated sites.
In addition, nine sites have been identified at which the
Company believes liability as a potentially responsible
party is probable for the cleanup of contamination and
natural resource damages resulting from historic dis-
posal of hazardous substances allegedly generated by
the Company, among others.

The Company conducts studies, as well as site
surveys, to determine the extent of environmental dam-
age and determine the necessary requirements to
remediate this damage. These studies incorporate the
analysis of our internal environmental staff and consulta-
tion with legal counsel. From these studies and surveys,
a range of estimates of the costs involved is derived and
a liability and related expenses for environmental reme-
diation is recorded within this range. The Company’s
recorded liabilities for these issues represent its best
estimates of remediation and restoration costs that may

i

be required to comply with present laws and regulations.
These estimates are based on forecasts of future direct
costs related to environmental remediation. These esti-
mates change pericdically as additional or better infor-
mation becomes available as to the extent of site
remediation required, if any. Certain changes could
occur that would materially affect the Company’s esti-
mates and environmental remediation costs at known
sites. If the Company discovers additional contamina-
tion, discovers previously unknown sites, or becomes
subject to related personal or property damage, the
Company could incur material additional costs in con-
nection with its environmental remediation.

The accrual for environmental cleanup-related
costs reported in the consolidated balance sheet
at December 31, 2003 was $19.3 million, including
$0.1 million for Superfund sites. These amounts repre-
sent those undiscounted costs that the Company
believes are probable and reasonably estimable. For
the year ended December 31, 2003, cash payments for
environmental cleanup-related matters were $1.8 mil-
lion. For environmental remediation sites known as of
December 31, 2003, if the highest estimate from the
range (based upon information presently available)
were recorded, the total estimated liability would have
increased by $29.5 million at December 31, 2003,
Based on existing information and currently enacted
environmental laws and regulations, cash payments for
environmental cleanup-related matters are projected to
be $1.5 million for 2004, which has already been
accrued. Further, the Company anticipates that the
amounts of capitalized environmental projects and the
expense of environmental compliance will approximate
current levels.

Goodwill As of December 31, 2003, the Company had
$275.1 million of goodwill that, based on impairment
testing completed in 2003, is not impaired. In accordance
with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” we complete an impairment test of goodwill
annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or cir-
cumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of our reporting units below their
carrying value. The impairment test requires us to esti-
mate the fair values of our reporting units, which is done
by using a discounted cash flow model. Significant
estimates used in our discounted cash flow model
include future cash flows and long-term rates of growth
of our reporting units and a discount rate based on our
weighted average cost of capital. Assumptions used in
determining future cash flows include current and
expected market conditions and future sales forecasts.

Approximately 94% of the Company’s goodwill
is attributable to reporting units with fair values that
exceed the carrying values of the reporting units by a
substantial margin. The use of different estimates and
assumptions, within the range of predictable possibili-
ties, employed in the discounted cash flow model that
measures the fair value of these reporting units, would
not be expected to result in an impairment of goodwill.
The remaining 6% of the goodwill resides in report-
ing units with fair values that modestly exceed the




carrying values of the reporting units. The use of differ-
ent estimates and assumptions employed in the dis-
counted cash flow model that measures the fair value of
these reporting units could result in an impairment of
goodwill. However, the maximum value exposed to
changes in estimates and assumptions, based upon the
current range of predictable possibilities, is $15.9 mil-
lion. Included in this amount is $10.6 million of goodwill
acquired with the thermal spray and coating business
within the Environmental Technologies segment
and $4.0 million of goodwill related to two acquisitions
that provide minerals-based products within the
Appearance and Performance Technologies segment.
Certain Long-Lived Assets In accordance with SFAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” we review our property, plant and
equipment for impairment whenever events or circum-
stances indicate that their carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Impairment reviews require a comparison
of the estimated future undiscounted cash flows to the
carrying value of the asset. If the total of the undis-
counted cash flows is less than the carrying value, an
impairment charge is recorded for the difference
between the estimated fair value and the carrying value
of the asset. Significant assumptions used in our undis-
counted cash flow model include future cash flows
attributed to the group of assets, the group of assets
subject to the impairment and the time period for which
~ the assets will be held and used. Assumptions used in
determining future cash flows include current and
expected market conditions and future sales forecasts.
The use of different estimates or assumptions within
our undiscounted cash flow model could result in
undiscounted cash flows lower than the current value
of our assets, thereby requiring the need to compare
the carrying values to their fair values. The use of differ-
ent estimates or assumptions when determining the fair
value of our property, plant and equipment may result in
different values for our property, plant and equipment,
and any related impairment charges (also, see
Appearance and Performance Technologies MD&A out-
look section on page 31).

In order to provide kaolin-based products to
the Company’s customers and the Process
Technologies segment, the Company engages in kaolin
mining operations that are integrated into the manufac-
turing processes. The Company owns and leases land
containing kaolin deposits on a long-term basis. The
Company does not own any mining reserves or conduct
any mining operations with respect to platinum,
palladium or other metals. The kaolin mining process
includes exploration, topsoil and overburden removal,
extraction of kaolin and the subsequent reclamation of
mined areas. In order to match the costs of the mining
process with revenues associated with kaolin-based
products, certain mining process costs are expensed
by the Company over the life of the related estimated
mineable reserves. The quality and quantity of these
mineable reserves are estimated by use of mapping,
drilling, sampling and assaying that are standard evalu-
ation methods generally accepted by the minerals

industry. Other estimates considered in the evaluation
of the estimated mineable reserves include long-term
demand forecasts and the impact of future regulatory
changes. A reduction in the estimated quantity of kaolin
deposits of 10% would result in an increase of annual
amortization expense of less than $1 million.

Provision for Income Taxes As of December 31, 2003, net
deferred tax assets are approximately $110.2 million.
The Company determines its current and deferred taxes
in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” The tax effect of the reversal of tax differ-
ences are recorded at rates currently enacted for each
jurisdiction in which it operates. To the extent that tem-
porary differences will result in future tax benefit, the
Company must estimate the timing of their reversal, and
whether taxable operating income in future periods will
be sufficient to fully recognize any deferred tax assets of
the Company. The future impact on earnings from using
different assumptions and/or estimates cannot be rea-
sonably quantified due to the number of scenarios and
variables that are present.

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had
approximately $281.6 million of state net operating loss
carryforwards that expire at various intervals between
2006 and 2023. The probability of not being able to uti-
lize these operating loss carryforwards is low under a
wide range of scenarios.

Itis the Company’s policy to establish reserves
for taxes that may become payable in future years as a
result of tax examinations. The Company establishes
reserves for taxes based upon management’s assess-
ment of tax exposures under applicable accounting
principles and pronouncements. The tax reserves are
analyzed on a quarterly basis and adjustments are
recorded as events occur that warrant changes to indi-
vidual exposure items and to the overall tax reserve bal-
ance. The Company is regularly audited by the Internal
Revenue Service (IRS) and the various foreign and
state tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which the
Company does business. The IRS is currently examin-
ing the Company’s tax returns for 1998, 1999 and 2000.
As of December 31, 2003, the Company has recorded
an appropriate reserve for exposures it has determined
are probable.

Pensions and Other Postretirement/Postempioyment
Costs The Company's employee pension and other
postretirement/postemployment benefit costs and obli-
gations are dependent on its assumptions used by
actuaries in calculating such amounts. These assump-
tions include discount rates, satary growth, expected
returns on plan assets, retirement rates, mortality rates
and other factors. The discount rate assumption is
based on investment yields available at the Company’s
measurement date of September 30 on AA-rated cor-
porate long-term bond yields. The salary growth
assumptions reflect our long-term actual experience,
the near-term outlook and assumed inflation. The
health care cost trend assumptions are developed
based on historical cost data, the near-term outlook
and an assessment of likely long-term trends.
Retirement rates are based primarily on actual plan




experience. Mortality rates are based on published
data. Actual results that differ from our assumptions
are accumulated and amortized over future periods
and, therefore, generally affect recognized expense
and recorded obligations in such future periods. While
we believe that the assumptions used are appropriate,
significant differences in actual experience or signifi-
cant changes in assumptions would affect our pension
and other postretirement/postemployment benefit
costs and obligations.

The Companyihas determined that its net pen-
sion cost is projected to be approximately $26 million in
2004, compared to $21 million in 2003 and $12 million in
2002. Based on a review of the current environment, we
have lowered our domestic and foreign long-term rate
of return assumptions Used in determining net periodic
pension expense from:10% and 8.43%, respectively, in
2002 to 9% and 7%, respectively, in 2003. No changes
are expected for 2004, A 1% change in the long-term
rate of return assumption would increase or decrease
net periodic pension expense by approximately $5 mil-
lion in 2004. The Company lowered its domestic and
foreign discount rates for determining net periodic pen-
sion expense from 7.50% and 6.02%, respectively, in
2002 to 6.75% and 5.77%, respectively, in 20083.
Further adjustments are being made in 2004 to lower
the domestic rate to 16.25% and the foreign rate to
5.50%. This adjustment reflects industry trends and
the current interest rate environment. A 25 basis-point
increase in the discount rate would decrease pension
expense by approximately $2 million in 2004 and
decrease the 2003 projected benefit obligation (PBO)
by approximately $25 million. A 25 basis-point decrease
in the discount rate would increase pension expense by
approximately $2 million in 2004 and increase the 2003
PBO by approximately $25 million. The Company used
September 30, 2003 as the measurement date for its
assets and liabilities. Assets on this date were
$513 million. The value of the assets increased to
$549 million at December 31, 2003. Had December 31,
2003 assets been used to determine 2004 net periodic
pension expense, our 2004 pension expense would
have decreased by approximately $1 million. The
Company expects its postretirement/postemployment
benefit costs to increase from $8 million to $13 million
in 2004. This increase primarily reflects the elimination
of a gain that was being amortized from plan amend-
ments made after the initial adoption of SFAS No. 106
(see Note 16, “Benefits,” for further detail regarding costs
and assumptions).

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. These statements relate to analy-
ses and other informaﬂion that are based on forecasts
of future results and estimates of amounts not yet
determinable. These istatements also relate to the
future prospects, developments and business strategies.

These forward-looking statements are identified by
their use of terms and phrases such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,”
“may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “will” and similar
terms and phrases, including references to assump-
tions. These forward-looking statements involve risks
and uncertainties that may cause the Company’s
actual future activities and results of operations to be
materially different from those suggested or described
in this document.
Among the risks and uncertainties that could
cause actual results to differ materially are the following:
// competitive pricing or product development activi-
ties that could affect the demand for our products,
particularly competing catalyst and kaolin producers

// the Company’s ability to achieve and execute internal
business plans

// worldwide political instability as the Company oper-
ates primarily in the United States, the European
community, Asia, the Russian Federation, South Africa
and Brazil

// alliances and geographic expansions developing dif-
ferently than anticipated

// fluctuations in the supply and prices of precious and
base metals and fluctuations in the relationships
between forward prices to spot prices

// government legislation and/or regulation (particularly
on environmental issues), including tax obligations

//the impact of the anticipated repeal of the current
U.S. export sales tax incentive ‘

// technology, manufacturing and legal issues

// the impact of any economic downturns and inflation

// interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk,
commodity price risk and credit risk (these are dis-
cussed further in the Company’s MD&A section)

// the impact of higher energy and raw material costs, and
the availability of natural gas and rare earth elements

// the success of research and development activities
and the speed with which regulatory authorizations
and product launches may be achieved

//the impact of increased employee benefit costs
and/or the resultant impact on employee relations

// contingencies related to actual or alleged environ-
mental contamination to which the Company may be
a party

// the impact of acquisitions, divestitures and restructurings

// overall demand for the Company’s products, including
demand from the worldwide automotive and chemical-
process markets

// product quality/performance issues

// exposure to product liability and other types of lawsuits

// the impact of physical inventory losses, particularly
with regard to precious and base metals

// the loss of business from property and casualty exposure

Investors are cautioned not to place undue
reliance upon these forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of their dates. The Company disclaims
any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

(LTS




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA //

(% in millions, except per-share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Operating Results

Net sales $3,714.5 $3,7536 $5,0969 $5542.6 $4,488.0
Operating @arnings ««-«rx v v 281.6 311.5 3201 265.4 315.8
Net earningsﬂ) ................................................................. 234.2 171.4 2256 168.3 ‘]975
Basic earnings pershare(” - c-ooooon 1.87 1.34 1.73 1.33 1.49
Diluted earnings pershare(l) <+ veveveiinii 1.84 1.31 1.71 1.31 1.47
Effectivetax ratef@) -« ovrveoriiiii 21.3% 28.0% 26.1% 31.5% 30.5%
Financial Ratios

Return on average shareholders’ equity(™ «-«- oo 19.8% 16.5% 24.0% 20.5% 23.7%
DEBY/CAPITAL «rvrerrrrres st 26% 36% 38% 46% 559%
Pretax interest coverage ratio 11.9 9.3 7.4 4.6 5.8
Current FAIO r v e e e e 1.5 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0

(1) Net earnings in 20083 include the following: a royalty settlement gain of $17.6 million, a charge of 84.8 million for the fair value of the remaining lease costs of certain
minerals-storage facilities that the Company ceased to use because of productivity initiatives and restructuring charges of $5.6 million (see Note 6, “Special Charges and
Credits,” for further detail). In addition, a transition charge of $2.3 million was recorded on January 1, 2003 as the cumuiative effect of an accounting change (see Note 4,

“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” for further detail).

Net earnings in 2002 include the following: an impairment charge of $57.7 million associated with the Engelhard- CLAL joint venture (see Note 10, “Investments,” for further
detail), an impairment charge of 84.1 million associated with an investment in fuel-cell developer Plug Power Inc. (see Note 10, “Investments,” for further detail), a charge
of 81.8 million related to a manufacturing consofidation plan and a $6.8 mijtion insurarce settiement gain (see Note 6, “Specfal Charges and Credits,” for further detail).
Net earnings in 2000 include the following: fourth-quarter special and other charges of $75.1 million for a variety of events, a third-quarter impairment charge of $16.9 mil-
lion refated to the write-down of goodwill and fixed assets of the Company's HexCore business unit and net gains of $12.8 million on sales of investments and land.

Net earnings in 1999 inciude net gains of $6.0 million on sales of investrnents and fand.

(2) The 2002 effective tax rate includes an equity investment impairment charge of $57.7 million recorded in 2002, Excluding this charge, the 2002 effective tax rate is 22.5%.

The following tables provide information related to the adoption of SFAS No. 143, “"Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”

(see Note 4, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” for further detail):

(% in millions, except per-share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Net earnings before cumulative effect of a change in
ACCOUNLING PRNGIPIE v+ e rreerrre e eei e $ 2365 ¢ 1714 $ 2256 $ 1683 $ 1975
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,
NEt OF tax Of $1,300 e terrrrrnrnrnreretrar et (2.3) - - - -
NEt BAININGS = -+ verrrer e $ 2842 ¢ 1714 $ 2256 $ 1683 §$ 1975
Earnings per share - basic:
Earnings before cumulative effect of a change in
accounting PrinCIPIE « -« rermrr e $ 189 $ 134 $ 173 $ 133 $ 149
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,
I OF LAX «rv v v v rermemr et e tterataate i et et e e ann e b et e {0.02) - - - -
Earnings pershare = Dasic «- -« -« $ 187 $ 134 $ 173 § 133 § 149
Earnings per share - diluted:
Earnings before cumulative effect of a changein
accounting Principle «««ovvveeereei $ 18 $ 131 $ 171 % 131 $ 147
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,
B OF FAX » v rre vt tr e e e e e e (0.02) - - - -
Earnings per share diluted «««--eeerrmee $ 184 ¢§ 131 $ 171 $ 131 § 147
Pro forma amounts assuming the provisions of SFAS No. 143 were applied retroactively:
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Net earnings before cumulative effect of a change in
ACCOUNtING PrNCIPIE v v vt $ 2365 $ 1708 $ 2250 % 1678 $ 19741
Basic earnings per share before cumulative effect -« oo oevevvinnn 1.89 1.33 1.73 1.33 1.49
Diluted earnings per share before cumulative effect ----oooovevvieenne. 1.86 1.31 1.70 1.31 1.46




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA AND SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA //

(8 in millions, except per-share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Other Information
Cash dividends paid pershare - -« ---+-oovovvn $ 041 $ 040 % 040 $ 040 $ 0.40
Stock pricerange pershare:---«--ooveeeeeinnes $19.02-30.58  $21.18-33.00 $18.20-29.20 $12.56-21.50 $16.25-23.69
Average shares outstanding - basic (millions)-- 1254 128.1 130.0 126.4 132.4
Average shares outstanding — diluted (millions) 127.3 130.5 132.2 128.1 134.6
Shareholders’ equity «-««-ioereeeiieii $ 1,2854 $ 10772 % 1,003.5 $ 8746 § 764.4
Total assets - orrrrerrrria $ 2,933.0 $ 3,0207 % 29955 % 3,166.8 $ 2,920.5
Long-termdebt <+« rcvreviiiii $ 3906 $ 2478 % 2379 % 2486 % 489.5
Capital expenditures -« ¢ croroeeannan.s 3 1136 $ 1133 $ 1689 § 1366 §$ 102.0
Research and development---«-----cooveeeennns $ 931 $ 882 % 843 $ 828 % 77.9
Number of employees at yearend:«---«--- oo+ 6,480 6,650 6,540 6,420 6,420
| First Second Third Fourth

(Unaudited) (8 in millions, exceprp;er-share amounts) quarter quarter quarter quarter
2003
Netsales - --corormvreen L L R R PR RRRTRE: $ 8304 $929.4 $915.4 $1,039.3
Gross profit «-ooeeeeeeannn B 149.6 162.9 1641 167.5
Earnings before income ta{xes and cumulative effect of

achange in accounting principle: -« -coeeeerininin, 77.3 69.5 75.1 78.8
Net earnings .......................................................... 56.7 54.0 590.8 63.7
Basic earnings per share before cumulative effect of

achange in accounting principle -+« xeveveserreneenes 0.46 0.43 0.48 0.51
Diluted earnings per share before cumulative effect of

achange in accounting principle ----r-oreererieinieeeenn 0.46 0.43 Q47 0.50
Basic earnings pershare <« 0.44 0.43 0.48 0.51
Diluted earnings persharg -« ««- oovervevniiiiini 0.44 0.43 0.47 0.50
2002 ‘
Netsales et $1,001.8 $982.3 $858.6 $ 9109
Gross profit -« - oeveveei 160.7 177.2 155.8 160.2
Earnings before iNCome takes ««+«««+++«xrrrrerrrevinneineies 69.8 80.1 17.1 70.9
NGt @AIMINGS +«« v revrererben ettt 52.4 60.1 29 56.1
Basic earnings persharg :--ccoooeerriiaii 0.41 0.47 0.02 0.44
Diluted earnings persharg »-««« ooreerieriniiii 0.40 0.46 0.02 0.44

Results in the first quarter of 2003)include charges of $8.7 million (85.6 million after tax) primarily related to a management consolidation and productivity initiative in the
Environmental and Process Techndlogies segments and within the “All Other” category, and a gain of $28.4 million ($17.6 million after tax) associated with a royalty settle-
ment. In addition, a transition charge of $3.7 million ($2.3 million after tax) was recorded on January 1, 2003 as the cumulative effect of an accounting change.

Results in the second quarter of 2003 include a charge of $7.8 million ($4.8 million after tax) for the fair value of the remaining lease costs of certain minerals-storage facilities

that the Company ceased to use because of productivity initiatives.

Results in the second quarter of 2002 include an impairment charge of $6.7 million (34.1 million after tax) associated with an investment in fuel-cell developer Plug Power,
Inc., a charge of 83.1 million (81.9 million after tax) related to a manufacturing consolidation plan and an $71.0 million ($6.8 million after tax) insurance settlement gain.

Results in the third quarter of 2002'include an impairment charge of $57.7 million associated with the Company’s Engelhard-CLAL joint venture.

The above amounts are calculated independently for each of the quarters presented. The sum of the quarters may not equal the full year amounts.
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Year ended December 31 (in thousands, except per-share amounts)

NEE SAIES v v v v rrrrteem ittt ettt et et e e
oSt Of SalES v v e s

Gross Profit «vreer e
Selling, administrative and other expenses «»««v ovvieein
Special (credits)/Charges, et -+ v e

Operat‘mg earnings ...............................................................
Equity in earnings of affiliates -+~ v
Equity investment impairment « -«
LOSS ONINVESTMENT <+ +v v
'nterest income ......................................................................
Interest EXPEISE  sv v vt e

Earnings before income taxes »-«+-voveriei
Income tax BXPENSE «+rrrrcrrvraeratraeec T

Net earnings before cumulative effect of a change in

aCCOUnting princip|e ...........................................................
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax of $1,390
Net earnings ................................................................

Earnings per share — basic:

Earnings before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax

Earnings pershare—basic -«rroroeesi

Earnings per share - diluted:

Earnings before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax

Earnings pershare —diluted -+« ovvveeee
Average number of shares outstanding —basic - -r-rrovrriie
Average number of shares outstanding — diluted - corevveveven

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Staterents.

2003 2002 2001
$3,714,493  $3,753571  $5,096,926
3,080,408 3,099,806 4,433,709
634,085 653,765 663,217
364,490 350,137 335,994
(11,978) (7,862) 7,100
281,573 311,490 320,123
39,368 16,207 29,095

- (57,704) -

- (6,659) -

4,035 1,068 3,297
(24,330) (27,378) (47,291)
300,646 237,924 305,224
64,154 66,516 79,663

$ 236,492 $ 171,408 $ 225,561
(2,269) - -

$ 234223 $ 171408 $ 225561
$ 18 $ 134 $ 173
0.02) - -

$ 187 $ 134 $ 173
$ 18 $ 131 $ 171
0.02) - -

$ 184 $ 131 $ 171
125,359 128,089 130,018
127,267 130,450 132,155
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December 31 (in thousands) 2003 2002
Assets
Cash ....................... et e e e eah e d e e e m et E e e et aEe st e e a et r et ae i a e n s $ 87,889 $ 48’246
Receivables, net of allowances of $11,566 and $9,739, respectively =« rvoeeerrei, 400,043 380,270
Comm|tted meta| posmons ..................................................................................... 350!163 61 5’441
Inventories ....................................................................................................... 442’787 427,162
Other current assets ----- T T T TN 1 127678 94’922
Total CUITENt @8 SEtS v - vt e e e e e e 1 ’393’560 1 ,566,041
Investments «-oovieeieaen e m it st r e e e e e e e a et a s aa e 158664 136’804
Property, plant and @QUIPITIENT, MET ««+ « e r et r e e 880,822 860,475
GOOAWill +vevrrerernmaeniens e et et e e e e e e e e e 275,121 272,353
Otherintangibleandnoncurrentassets L EETTRTIRPIPYPRRY: 224,836 185,041
Total assets oieenen R L I R L LR PR PR $2’933’003 $3’020’714
Liabilities and Sharsholders’ Equity
SOrt-tErM DOFTOWINGS  +fv e+ erte et et ettt e e et et e e $ 68275 § 348,749
Accounts payablg -+ N e 296,979 225,045
Hedged metal obligations; ...................................................................................... 295,821 537,243
OLHET CUITENAL ADIHITIES ++ e e v s e trrste it et ettt e e ettt e et e e et a e 286,940 275,250
Total current liabilities ‘ ....................................................................................... 948‘015 1’386287
Long-term debt ........... et e e e e a e ea et aeaa ey et e ey e e et an e e e 390’565 247,805
Other noncurrent Iiabilities ...................................................................................... 309,024 309,455
Total |I8bl|ltleS .......... e e e 1 '647,604 1 ‘943,547
Shareholders’ equity ‘
Preferred stock, no par va[ue, 5,000 shares authorized but unissued <« -ovoeevrn i - -
Common stock, $1 par value, 350,000 shares authorized and 147,295 shares issued ««-«cv« vevvernnnes 147,295 147,295
Additional paid-in capital ‘ ....................................................................................... 26,756 20,876
RETAINEA QAIMINGS ++ -7 v+ v o e e e ettt ettt ettt bt h e e st 1,619,284 1,436,637
Treasury stock, at cost, 223,885 and 19,937 shares, respectively «-ororeve (492,057) (412,451)
Accumulated other COMPrehensive 0SS <« - - xvrrrtrrerre e (15,879) (115,190)
Total shareholders’ equity .................................................................................... 1,285,399 1,077,167
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity <+« -« v rerrrermnn $2,933,003  $3,020,714

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS //

Year ended December 31 (in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities
Net earnings «---«-- S IR
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and depletion «+ -« v e e
Amortization of intangible assets ««r-vxr i
LOSS ON INVESTMENT < - vt e i e i e e e
Equity results, net of dividends e
Equity investment impairment - ooo e
Net change in assets and liabilities:
Materials Services related - :«c-ccoromr i
Al Ot r v v e e e
Net cash provided by operating activities «-«oorervrervi i
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital @XPendItUrBS «+rr r s et
Proceeds from sale of investments - «--ovveveiieerii
Acquisitions and otherinvestments - ccvoroiirei
Net cash used ininvesting activities =+ -orvoirarrrii
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from short-term borrowings <o« oeereermin i
Repayment of short-term borrowings «+-« - reesrvrreiiii i
(Decrease)/increase in hedged metal obligations -+
Repayment of IONG-term debt +« -« -« xermrvrere e
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt -« - voeeereiiii
Purchase of treasury SHOCK e
Cash from exercise of stock options ««+«rrvverrrrieiiiii
DIVIAENES PAIC v +x = v e e st
Net cash used in financing activities «««--crroeere i
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash - oo
Net increase/{decrease) in Cash oo
Cash at Deginming Of YEar -+« v rrr
Cashat end of Y@ar =+« - =r rar ettt

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

2003 2002 2001
$234,223 $171,408 $ 225561
124315 110,676 94,996
3,357 2,886 13,521

- 6,659 -
(14,805)  (12,279)  (24,937)
- 57,704 -
332,590 (30,053) 59,734
(48,696) 4,732) (23,082
630,984 302269 345793
(113,557)  (113,309)  (168,882)
6,651 - 3,400
(1,000) (7,608)  (16,559)
(107,906)  (120,915) _(182,041)
- 264,155 285,000
(284,283)  (304,457)  (248,064)
(225,000) 3,784 11,333
(184) (148)  (159,308)
150,224 - -
(119,568)  (133,543)  (101,154)
32,880 48,781 101,175
(51,576)  (51,492)  (52,267)
(497,507)  (172,920)  (163,285)
14,072 6,778 (967)
39,643 15212 (500)
48,246 33,034 33,534
$ 87,889 $ 48246 $ 33034




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY //

Accumu-
lated
other
Addi- Compre-  compre- Total
tional hensive hensive share-
Common paid-in Retained Treasury income/ income/ hoiders’
(in thousandss, except per-share amounts) stock capital earnings stock (loss) (loss) equity
Balance at December 31,2000 ------- $147,295  $(21,050) $1,143,427  $(344,036) $(51,069) $ 874,567
Comprehensive income/(ioss):
Net earnings «+---+-oeo CEEPRRIE 225,561 $225,561 225,561
Other comprehensive |os§:
Cash flow derivative
adjustment, netoftax «------- {4,550)
Foreign currency
translation adjustment -+« - - (51,035)
Minimum pension liability
adjustment, netof tax -+ -- (25,355)
Other comprehensive loss -« - (80,940) (80,940) (80,940)
Comprehensive income -+ -+ - $144,621
Dividends ($0.40 per sharg) -+« -+ (52,267) (52,267)
Treasury stock acquired = -»«--oveveee (101,154) (101,154)
Stock bonus and option
plan transactions -+ e 28,428 109,311 137,739
Balance at December 31,2001 ------- 147,295 7,378 1,316,721 (335,879) (132,009) 1,003,506
Comprehensive income/(loss):
Net earnings ----vcoveormmnaeanens 171,408 $171,408 171,408
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Cash flow derivative
adjustment, net of t‘éx -------- 4,424
Foreign currency
translation adjustment ------- 70,284
Minimum pension liability
adjustment, netoftax «-«----- (57,689)
investment adjustmer‘;t,
netoftax.««-rr - SRRRRRERRES (200)
Other comprehensive income: - 16,819 16,819 16,819
Comprehensive income: - - - $188,227
Dividends ($0.40 per share) ---+----- (51,492) T (51,492)
Treasury stock acquired -« -+ o-oeees (133,543) (133,543)
Stock bonus and option
plan transactions«----cciveeeiaen 13,498 56,971 70,469
Balance at December 31,2002 ---- - - 147,295 20,876 1,436,637 (412,451) (115,190) 1,077,167
Comprehensive income/(ioss):
Netearnings -« --oorvriceeaienes 234,223 $234,223 234,223
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Cash flow derivative .
adjustment, net of tax -+- -+ (123)
Foreign currency
transiation adjustment ------- 77,787
Mintmum pension liability
adjustment, netof tax «------- 21,120
Investment adjustmeht,
netoftax: ... ovreeiiiannn 527
Other comprehensive income:- - 99,311 99,311 99,311
Comprehensive income -+ $333,534
Dividends ($0.41 per share) «-------. (51,576) - (51,576)
Treasury stock acquired -« ««-----oees (119,568) (119,568)
Stock bonus and option
plan transactions -« --«-xeereeeaeeens 5,880 39,962 45,842
Balance at December 31,2003 ------- $147,295 $26,756 $1,619,284  $(492,057) $ (15,879) $1,285,399

See accompanying Notes to Consofidated Financial Statements.




NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS //

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation The accompanying

consolidated financial statements include the

accounts of Engelhard Corporation and its
majority-owned subsidiaries (coliectively referred to as
Engelhard or the Company). All significant intercom-
pany transactions and balances have been eliminated
in consolidation.
Use of Estimates The preparation of financial state-
ments in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclo-
sure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash equivalents include all
investments purchased with an original maturity of three
months or less.
Inventories Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
or market. The elements of inventory cost include
direct labor and materials, variable overhead and fixed

manufacturing overhead. The majority of the Company’s
physical metal is carried in committed metal positions at
fair value with the remainder carried in inventory at his-
torical cost. The cost of owned precious metals included
in inventory is determined using the last-in, first-out
(LIFO) method of inventory valuation. The cost of other
inventories is principally determined using the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of buildings
and equipment is provided primarily on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Buildings and building improvements are depreciated
over 20 years, while machinery and equipment is depre-
ciated based on lives varying from 3 to 10 years.
Depletion of mineral deposits and deferred mine devel-
opment costs is provided under the units-of-production
method. When assets are sold or retired, the cost and
related accumulated depreciation is removed from the
accounts, and any gain or loss is included in earnings.
The Company continually evaluates the reasonableness
of the carrying value of its fixed assets. If the expected
future undiscounted cash flows associated with these
assets are less than their carrying value, the assets are
written down to their fair value.




Intangible Assets Identifiable intangible assets, such as
patents and trademarks, are amortized using the
straight-line method oyer their estimated useful lives.
Goodwill was amortized by the straight-line method over
periods up to 40 years for all acquisitions completed
prior to June 30, 2001. Effective January 1, 2002, with
the adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” goddwill and other intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives will not be amortized, but
will be tested for impairment based on the specific guid-
ance of SFAS No. 142 (5ee the Company’s Goodwill criti-
cal accounting policy oh page 38 and Note 3, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets,” for further detail).

The Company continually evaluates the reason-
ableness of the carrying value of its intangible assets. For
its identifiable intangibﬂe assets, an impairment would be
recognized if it became probable that expected future
undiscounted cash flows would be less than their carry-
ing amounts. For goodwill and other intangible assets
that have indefinite useful lives, an impairment would be
recognized if the carryihg amount of a respective report-
ing unit exceeded the fair value of that reporting unit.
Committed Metal Positions and Hedged Metal
Obligations Committed metal positions reflect the fair
value of the long spot metal positions (other than LIFO
inventory) held by the Company plus the fair value of con-
tracts that are in a gain|position undertaken to economi-
cally hedge price exposures. Because most of the spot
metal has been hedged through forward/future sales or
other derivative arrangéments (e.g., swaps), it is referred
to as being “committed,” although the physical metal
can be used by the Company until such time as the sales
are settled. The portion of this metal that has not been
hedged and, therefore, is subject to price risk is dis-
cussed below and disclosed in Note 11, “Committed
Metal Positions and Hedged Metal Obligations.”

The bulk of hedged metal obligations repre-

sents spot short positions, As these positions generate.

cash, their cash effect is included in the financing activi-
ties section of the Company’s “Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows.” Other than in the closely monitored situ-
ations noted below, these positions are hedged with for-
ward purchases. In addition, the aggregate fair value of
derivatives in a loss position are reported in hedged
metal obligations (derivatives in a gain position are
included in committed metal positions).

For the purpose of determining whether the
Company is in a net spot long or short position with
respect to a metal, purchased quantities received for
which the Company is hot exposed to market price risk
(because of provisional rather than final pricing) are
considered a componént of its spot positions.

To the extent metal prices increase subsequent
to a spot purchase that has been hedged, the Company
will recognize a gain as a result of marking the spot
metal to market while at the same time recognizing a
loss related to the fair value of the derivative instrument.
As noted above, the aggregate fair value of derivatives
in a loss position is classified as part of hedged metal
obligations at the balance sheet date because the
Company has incurred a liability to the counterparty.
Should the reverse occur and metal prices decrease,
the resultant gain on the derivative will be offset against
the spot loss within committed metal positions.

Both spot metal and derivative instruments
used in hedging (i.e., forwards, futures, swaps and
options) are stated at fair value. If relevant listed market
prices are not available, fair value is determined based
on other relevant factors, including dealer price quota-
tions and price quotations in different markets, including
markets located in different geographic areas. Any
change in value, whether realized or unrealized, is recog-
nized as an adjustment to cost of sales in the period of
the change.

In closely monitored situations, for which
exposure levels and transaction size limits have been
set by senior management, the Company holds
unhedged metal positions that are subject to future
market fluctuations. Such positions may include vary-
ing levels of derivative instruments. At times, these
positions can be significant. All unhedged metal trans-
actions are monitored and marked to market daily. The
metal that has not been hedged is therefore subject to
price risk and is disclosed in Note 11, “Committed
Metal Positions and Hedged Metal Obligations.”
Environmental Costs In the ordinary course of business,
like most other industrial companies, the Company is
subject to extensive and changing federal, state, local
and foreign environmental laws and regulations and has
made provisions for the estimated financial impact of
environmental cleanup-related costs. The Company’s
policy is to accrue for environmental cleanup-related
costs of a noncapital nature when those costs are
believed to be probable and can be reasonably esti-
mated. Environmental cleanup costs are deemed proba-
ble when litigation has commenced or a claim or an
assessment has been asserted, or, based on available
information, commencement of litigation or assertion of
a claim or an assessment is probable, and, based on
available information, it is probable that the outcome of
such litigation, claim or assessment will be unfavorable.
The quantification of environmental exposures requires
an assessment of many factors, inciuding changing
laws and regulations, advancements in environmental
technologies, the quality of information available related
to specific sites, the assessment stage of each site




investigation, preliminary findings and the length of time
involved in remediation or settlement. For certain mat-
ters, the Company expects to share costs with other
parties. The Company does not include anticipated
recoveries from insurance carriers or other third parties
in its accruals for environmental liabilities.

Revenue Recognition Revenues are recognized on sales
of product at the time the goods are shipped or when
risks of ownership have passed to the customer. Sales of
product include sales of catalysts, pigments, perfor-
mance additives, sorbents and precious metai sold to
industrial customers. Revenues for refining services are
recognized on the contractually agreed settlement date.
In limited situations, revenue is recognized on a bill-and-
hold basis as title passes to the customer before ship-
ment of goods. These bill-and-hold sales meet the
criteria of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements,” for revenue recog-
nition. Sales recognized on a bill-and-hold basis were
approximately $19.4 million as of December 31, 20083,
$31.0 million as of December 31, 2002 and $28.9 million
as of December 31, 2001. With regard to the balance
classified as bill-and-hold sales, the Company has col-
lected $13.7 million of the outstanding balance as of
December 31, 2003.

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force

EITF 00410, “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Fees
and Costs,” the Company reports amounts billed to cus-
tomers for shipping and handling fees as sales in the
Company’s “Consolidated Statements of Earnings.”
Costs incurred by the Company for shipping and han-
dling fees are reported as cost of sales.
Sales and Cost of Sales Some of the Company’s busi-
nesses use precious metals in their manufacturing
processes. Precious metals are included in sales and
cost of sales if the metal has been supplied by the
Company. Often, customers supply the precious metals
for the manufactured product. In those cases, precious-
metals values are not included in sales or cost of sales.
The mix of such arrangements, the extent of market-
price fluctuations and the general price level of platinum
group and other metals can significantly affect the
reported level of sales and cost of sales. Consequently,
there is no direct correlation between year-to-year
changes in reported sales and operating earnings.

In addition to the cost of precious metals rec-
ognized as revenues, cost of sales includes all manufac-
turing costs (raw materials, direct labor and overhead).
Cost of sales also includes shipping and handling fees
and warranties.

For all Materials Services activities, a gain or
loss is recorded as an element of cost of sales based on
changes in the market value of the Company’s positions.

Selling, Administrative and Other Expenses The selling,
administrative and other expenses line item in the
“Consolidated Statements of Earnings” includes man-
agement and administrative compensation, research
and development, professional fees, information tech-
noiogy expenses, travel expenses, administrative rent
expenses, sales commissions and insurance expenses.
Income Taxes Deferred income taxes reflect the differ-
ences between the assets and liabilities recognized for
financial reporting purposes and amounts recognized for
tax purposes. Deferred taxes are based on tax laws as
currently enacted.

Equity Method of Accounting The Company’s invest-
ments in companies in which it has the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial poli-
cies, generally 20% to 50% owned, are accounted for
using the equity method. Accordingly, the Company’s
share of the earnings of these companies is included in
consolidated net income. Investments in nonsubsidiary
companies in which the Company does not have signifi-
cantinfluence are carried at cost.

Foreign Currency Transiation The functional currency for
the majority of the Company’s foreign operations is the
applicable local currency. The translation from the appli-
cable foreign currencies to U.S. dollars is performed for
balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates in
effect at the balance sheet date and for revenue and
expense accounts using an appropriate average
exchange rate during the period. The resulting trans-
lation adjustments are recorded as a component of
shareholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from for-
eign currency transactions are included in the
Company’s “Consclidated Statements of Earnings.”
Stock Option Plans The Company adopted the disclosure
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation” in 1995 and adopted SFAS
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation -
Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of Financial

"Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement

No. 128,” in December 2002. The Company will continue
to apply the intrinsic-value-based method of accounting
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB)
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” with
pro forma disclosure of net income and earnings per
share as if the fair-value-based method prescribed by
SFAS No. 123 had been applied. In general, no com-
pensation cost related to the Company’s stock option
plans is recognized in the Company’s “Consclidated
Statements of Earnings” as options are issued at market
price on the date of grant.

Had compensation cost for the Company's stock
option plans been determined based on the fair value at
grant date consistent with the provisions of SFAS No.123,
“Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” the




Company’s net earnings|and earnings per share would
have been as follows:

Pro Forma Information

(in mitlions, except per-share data) 2003 2002 2001
Net earnings — as reported - $234.2 $171.4 $2256
Deduct: Total stock-based

employee compensation

expense determined under

fair-value-based method Tor

all awards, netof tax «---- o (5.8) (6.3) (5.9)

Netearnings - proforma----  $228.4 $165.1 $219.7

Earnings Per Share:
Basic earnings per share - ‘

asreported- - e SR $187 $134 $ 173
Basic earnings per share —

Proforma- -« oorereeraeinenn., 1.82 1.29 1.69
Diluted earnings per share -

asreported- v i 1.84 1.31 1.71
Diluted earnings per share = .

Proforma: -« revoererninnian 1.79 127 1.66

Research and Development Costs Research and devel-
opment costs are charged to expense as incurred and
were $93.1 million in 2003, $88.2 million in 2002 and
$84.3 million in 2001. These costs are included within
selling, administrativ¢ and other expenses in the
Company’s “Consolidated Statements of Earnings.”
New Accounting Pronouncements In June 2001, the
FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations.” This Statement addresses
financial-accounting and reporting for obligations asso-
ciated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets
and the associated assét retirement costs. This State-
ment is effective for findncial statements issued for fis-
cal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company
adopted this Statemen}t on January 1, 2003 and has
incorporated the requirements of this Statement into
these consolidated financial statements (see Note 4,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” for fur-
ther detail of this standard).

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 1486,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” This Statement addresses financial account-
ing and reporting for costs associated with exit or dis-
posal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “ﬂiability Recognition for Certain
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit
an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a
Restructuring).” The primary difference between this
Statement and Issue 94:3 relates to its requirements for
recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit
or disposal activity. This Statement requires that a liabil-
ity for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity
be recognized when the liability is incurred. The provi-
sions of this Statement are effective for exit or disposal
activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The
Company adopted this|Statement on January 1, 2003
and has incorporated the requirements of this Statement
into these consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation
No. 468, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”
(FIN 46). FIN 46 addresses consolidation by business
enterprises of variable interest entities with certain
defined characteristics. This interpretation applies
immediately to variable interest entities created after
January 31, 2003, and to variable interest entities in
which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. It
applies in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning
after December 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in
which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it
acquired before February 1, 2003. The Company does
not have any significant interests in any variable interest
entities. This interpretation did not have any impact on
the accompanying financial statements.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149,
“Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instru-
ments and Hedging Activities.” This Statement amends
and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts and for
hedging activities under SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This
Statement is effective for contracts entered into or
modified after June 30, 2003, with certain exceptions,
and for hedging relationships designated after June 30,
2003. This Statement did not have any impact on the
accompanying financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150,
“Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Char-
acteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” This Statement
establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and
measures certain financial instruments with characteris-
tics of both liabilities and equity. 1t requires that an issuer
classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a
liability or an asset in some circumstances. Generally, this
Statement is effective for financial instruments entered
into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is
effective at the beginning of the first interim period begin-
ning after June 15, 2003. This Statement did not have any
impact on the accompanying financial statements.

In December 2003, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits,” an amend-
ment of FASB Statements 87, 88 and 106. This State-
ment revises employers’ disclosures about pension
plans and other postretirement benefit plans. It does not
change the measurement and recognition of those plans
required by FASB Statements 87, 88 and 106. This State-
ment retains the disclosure requirements contained in
the original Statement 132. It requires additional disclo-
sures about the assets, obligations, cash flows, and net
periodic benefit cost of defined benefit plans and other
defined benefit postretirement plans. This Statement is
effective for financial statements with fiscal years ending
after December 15, 2003, except for the disclosure of esti-
mated future benefit payments and information about for-
eign plans which is effective for fiscal years ending after
June 15, 2004. The Company adopted this Statement in




December 2003 and has incorporated all required disclo-
sure provisions that are effective as of December 31,
2008 into these consolidated financial statements, except
for information about estimated future benefit payments.

On December 8, 2003, the President of the
United States signed into law the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
Act). This Act introduces a prescription drug benefit
under Medicare (Medicare Part D), as well as a federal
subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans
that provide a benefit that is at ieast actuarially equiva-
ient to Medicare Part D. In December 2003, the FASB
issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 106-1, “Accounting
and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act
of 2003.” In accordance with FSP No. 106-1, the
Company has decided to make a one-time election to
defer accounting for the effects of the Act until specific
authoritative guidance is issued on how to account for
the federal subsidy. Accordingly, the Company’s benefit
obligation and net periodic benefit cost do not reflect the
effects of this Act.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
AND HEDGING

The Company reports all derivative instru-

ments on the balance sheet at their fair

value. Changes in the fair value of deriva-
tives designated as cash flow hedges are initially
recorded in comprehensive income and are reclassified
to earnings in the period the hedged item is reflected in
earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are not designhated as cash flow hedges are reported
immediately in earnings.

In order to manage in a manner consistent with
historical processes, procedures and systems and to
achieve operating economies, certain economic hedge
transactions are not designated as hedges for account-
ing purposes. In those cases, which primarily relate to
precious and base metals, the Company wiil continue to
mark-to-market both the hedge instrument and the
related position constituting the risk hedged, recogniz-
ing the net effect in current earnings.

The Company documents all relationships
between derivative hedging instruments and items
impacted by cash flow hedges at the time the hedges
are initiated, as well as its risk-management strategies
for entering into various hedge transactions. For the
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, there
was no gain or loss recognized in earnings resulting
from hedge ineffectiveness.

Foreign Exchange Contracts The Company designates
as cash flow hedges certain foreign currency forward
contracts entered into as hedges against anticipated
receivables or payables which will arise from fore-
casted transactions that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity which
holds those assets or liabilities. The ultimate maturi-
ties of the contracts are timed to coincide with the

expected occurrence of the underlying sale or pur-
chase transaction.

For the twelve-month periods ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company reported
after-tax losses of $1.7 million and $0.3 million, respec-
tively, in accumulated other comprehensive income
relating to the change in the fair value of derivatives
designated as foreign exchange cash flow hedges. For
the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2001,
the Company reported after-tax gains of $0.2 million
in accumulated other comprehensive income. It is
expected that cumulative losses of $1.8 million as of
December 31, 2003 will be reclassified into earnings
within the next twelve months. There was no gain or
loss reclassified from accumulated other comprehen-
sive income into earnings as a result of the discontinu-
ance of cash flow hedges due to the probability of the
original forecasted transactions not occurring. As of
December 31, 2003, the maximum length of time over
which the Company has hedged its exposure to move-
ments in foreign exchange rates for forecasted trans-
actions is twelve months,

A second group of forward contracts entered

into to hedge the exposure to foreign currency fluctua-
tions associated with certain monetary assets and lia-
bilities is not designated as hedging instruments for
accounting purposes. Changes in the fair value of these
items are recorded in earnings to offset the foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from the effect of
changes in exchange rates used to measure related
monetary assets and liabilities.
Commodity Contracts The Company enters into con-
tracts that are designated as cash flow hedges to pro-
tect a portion of its exposure to movements in certain
commodity prices. The ultimate maturities of the con-
tracts are timed to coincide with the expected usage of
these commodities.

For the twelve-month periods ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company reported
after-tax gains of $1.6 million and $4.7 million, respec-
tively, in accumulated other comprehensive income
relating to the change in the fair value of derivatives
designated as cash flow commodity hedges. For the
twelve-month period ended December 31, 2001, the
Company reported after-tax losses of $4.8 million in
accumulated other comprehensive income. These
amounts primarily relate to derivatives designated as
natural gas cash flow hedges. It is expected that cumu-
lative gains of $1.6 million as of December 31, 2003
will be reclassified into earnings within the next
twelve months. There was no gain or loss reclassified
from accumulated other comprehensive income into
earnings as a result of the discontinuance of cash
flow commodity hedges due to the probability of the
original forecasted transactions not occurring. As of
December 31, 2003, the maximum length of time over
which the Company has hedged its exposure to move-
ments in commodity prices for forecasted transactions
is twelve months.




The use of derivative metal instruments is dis-
cussed in Note 1, “Sumrnary of Significant Accounting
Policies,” under Committed Metal Positions and
Hedged Metal Obligations. To the extent that the matu-
rities of these instruments are mismatched, the
Company may be exposed to market risk. This expo-
sure is mitigated through the use of Eurodollar futures
that are marked to market daily along with the underly-
ing commodity instruments.

Interest Rate Derivatives The Company uses interest
rate derivatives that are designated as fair value
hedges to help achieve lits fixed and floating rate debt
objectives. The Company currently has two interest
rate swap agreements iwith a total notional value of
$100 million maturing inl/August 2006 and three interest
rate swap agreements iwith a total notional value of
$150 million maturing iri May 2013. These agreements
effectively change fixéd rate debt obligations into
floating rate debt obligations. The total notional values
and maturity dates of these agreements are equal to
the face values and the maturity dates of the related
debt instruments. For these fair value hedges, there
was no gain or loss recagnized from hedged firm com-
mitments no longer qudlifying as fair value hedges for

the twelve-month periods ending December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001,

GOODWILL AND OTHER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company adopted SFAS No. 141,

“Business Combinations,” for all acquisi-

tions made after June 30, 2001. This
Statement requires that all business combinations
be accounted for by the purchase method and that
intangible assets be recognized apart from goodwill if
they meet certain criteria.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” on January 1,
2002. SFAS No. 142 addresses post-acquisition finan-
cial accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and
other intangible assets. Under this Statement, goodwill
and other intangible assets that have indefinite useful
lives will not be amortized, but rather will be tested for
impairment based on the specific guidance of SFAS
No. 142. The Company did not recognize an impairment
loss as a result of the impairment testing that was com-
pleted in 2003 and 2002.

The following table sets forth the pro forma impact of applying the new non-amortization provisions of
SFAS No. 142 on net income and earnings per share (in millions, except per-share amounts):

Twelve Months Ended December 31,

2001
(pro forma)

2003
(as reported)

2002
(as reported)

Net Income ‘
Reported NetinCOmMe ««ure v $234.2 $171.4 $225.6
Add back: Goodwill amortization, netof tax -----ccorrreiirviiinii - - 8.4
Tradename amortization, net of tax «-« v orveemeee i - - 0.6
Adjusted net inCome: -« v $234.2 $171.4 $234.6

Basic Earnings Per Share |
Reported basic earnings per Shar@:««««««+ - rrwreeiini $ 1.87 $ 1.34 $ 1.73
Add back: Goodwill amortization, net of tax -+« ovvvrvnii - - 0.06
Tradename amortization, net of tax ~«-« rrveveerrn - - -
Adjusted Basic €arnings Per Share - --rooresr ... $ 1.87 $ 1.34 $ 1.79

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Reported diluted earnings pershare -« «-coovvrii $ 1.84 $ 1.31 $1.71
Add back: Goodwill amortization, net of tax -«---oevvorieiii - - 0.06
Tradename amortization, net of tax -+ - -ooorrarerimie - - -
Adjusted dituted earnings pershare -« -« oo $ 1.84 $ 1.31 $ 1.77

The following information relates to acquired amortizable intangible assets (in millions):

As of December 31, 2003 As of December 31, 2002

Gross Gross
carrying Accumulated  carrying Accumulated
‘ amount  amortization amount  amortization

Acquired amortizable intangible assets

USAQE FIGht -« v v reee e e et $20.7 $ 4.5 $17.2 $26
SUPPIY BQrEEMENLS -« vv et e raeaarat it 17.9 4.7 15.4 31
Technology licenses - - R LR R E R TR 8.6 2.6 7.4 1.9
10 38T T 3.7 21 3.7 1.8
Tot@l « v vverrerrnnene S $50.9 $13.9 $43.7 $9.4




Total accumulated amortization for goodwill and other intangible assets amounted to $80.2 million and $76.8 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. As of December 31, 2003, the estimated aggregate amortization
expense for each of the five succeeding years is as follows (in millions):

Estimated annual amortization expense:

................................................................. 3.5
................................................................. 3.3
................................................................. 3.3
................................................................. 3.3

The following table represents the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31,

2003 and 2002 (in millions):

Balance as of January 1,2002- -+ oo
Goodwill additions =+« vverveinei
Reclassification of other intangible asset/@ .-« +----....
Foreign currency translation adjustment - oo ooveeieenn

Balance as of December 31,2002 -+ -+ oo
Goodwill additions «« v e

Appearance
and
Environmental Process Performance All

Technologies Technologies  Technologies  Other Total
$12.3 $108.2 $132.3 $0.8 $253.6
0.8 - - - 0.8
- - 18.6 - 18.6
0.1 0.6 14 - 1.8
- (1.9 - - (1.9)
0.2) - - 0.3) (0.5)
13.0 106.9 152.0 0.5 272.4
- - 1.5 - 1.5
0.2 0.7 0.1) - 0.8
0.5 0.1) - - 0.4
$13.7 $107.5 $153.4 $0.5 $275.1

(a) SFAS No. 141 provides that an intangible asset shall be recognized apart from goodwill if it arises from contractual or other legal rights or if it is separable from the acquired
entity. In accordance with the transition provisions of the statement, the Company reviewed its intangible assets to determine If they met the new criteria. As a result, it was
determined that an other intangible asset of $18.6 milfion did not meet the new criteria and should thus be recognized as goodwill upon adoption of SFAS No. 142.

ACCOUNTING FOR ASSET
RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Company adopted SFAS No. 143,

“Accounting for Asset Retirement

Obligations,” on January 1, 2003. This
Statement, which addresses financial accounting and
reporting for obligations associated with the retirement
of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset
retirement costs, requires the fair value of a liability for
an asset retirement obligation to be recognized in the
period in which it is incurred. The liability is measured
at fair value and is adjusted in subsequent periods as
accretion expense is recorded. The corresponding
asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and
depreciated over the asset’s useful life.

The Company’s asset retirement obligations pri-
mavrily relate to kaclin mining operations of its Appearance
and Performance Technologies segment. In order to pro-
vide kaolin-based products to the Company’s customers
and the Process Technologies segment, the Company
engages in kaolin mining operations. The kaolin mining
process includes exploration, topsoil and overburden
removal, extraction of kaolin and the subsequent reclama-
tion of mined areas. The Company has a legal obligation to
reclaim mined areas under state regulations. Prior to
adoption of SFAS No. 143, the Company expensed recla-
mation costs as the mined areas were reclaimed.

At January 1, 2003, the Company recognized
transition amounts for existing asset retirement obliga-
tion liabilities, associated capitalizable costs and accu-
mulated depreciation. A transition charge of $3.7 million
($2.3 million after tax or $0.02 per share on a diluted
basis) was recorded on January 1, 2003 as the cumulative
effect of an accounting change. Pro forma net income
and diluted earnings per share as if the provisions of
SFAS No. 143 had been adopted on January 1, 2002,
excluding the cumulative effect of an accounting change,
for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2002
are $170.8 million and $1.31 per share.

The following table represents the change in
the Company’s asset retirement obligation liability for
the year ended December 31, 2003 (in millions):

_2003
Asset retirement obligation at January 1,2003 -+ -+« $ -
Liability recognized in transition =« ««oveerrerriieinns 7.1
Liability recognized during the twelve months
ended December 31,2003 - -cverraiirerieiinens 2.0
ACCretion EXPenSe:« v v i 1.9
PaYMENES: - v e e rree e e ettt _(CE)
Asset retirement obligation at
December 31,2003« veorrrraveiien, $10.5

The pro forma amount of liability for asset retirement
obligation as if the provisions of SFAS No. 143 had been
applied at January 1, 2002 is $6.7 million. This amount
would not have been materially different if the provisions
of SFAS No. 143 had been applied at January 1, 2001.




ACQUISITIONS

In November 2002, the Company acquired

certain operating assets of S8huozhou

Anpeak Kaolin Co., Ltd., a China-based
producer of calcined kaolin products for approximately
$12.1 million. This acquisition enhances the Company’s
ability to provide specialty mineral technologies to the
Asian market and was; recorded under the purchase
method of accounting. The results of operations of this
acquisition, integratéd into the Appearance and
Performance Technologies segment, are included in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements
from the date of acquisition. A portion of the purchase
price has been allocated to assets acquired based on
their fair values, while the remaining balance was
recorded as goodwill. Pro forma information is not pro-
vided because the impact of the acquisition does not
have a material effect on the Company’s results of
operations, cash flows or financial position.

In October 2001, the Company acquired the fats
and oils catalyst business of Siid Chemie for approxi-
mately $13.6 million. This acquisition broadened the
Company’s catalyst technology offering to oleochemical
markets and was recorded under the purchase method
of accounting. The resujlts of operations of this acquisi-
tion, integrated into thelProcess Technologies segment,
are included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. A portion of the
purchase price has been allocated to assets acquired
based on their fair values, while the remaining balance
was recorded as goodwill. Pro forma information is not
provided since the impact of the acquisition does not
have a material effect on the Company’s results of opera-
tions, cash flows or financial position.

SPECIAL CHARGES
AND CREDITS

in the firs{t quarter of 2003, the Company

entered into a settlement agreement,

releasing a claim the Company had
brought against Research Corporation and Research
Corporaticn Technologies in exchange for payment of
$38.0 million. Accordihgly, the Company recorded a
gain of $28.4 million ($17.6 million after tax) in the first
quarter of 2003, net of legal fees and the portion of the
settlement related to future royalties. This gain was
included in the Company’s “All Other” category and
in the “Special (credits)/charges, net” line in the
“Consolidated Statements of Earnings.” By way of
background, on October 29, 2002, a jury in the New
York County Supreme Court had awarded the
Company $29.8 millioniin damages in a breach of con-
tract action the Company had brought against
Research Corporatiocn and Research Corporation
Technologies in 1998. The jury found that the defendants

did not share with the Company all of the royalties
to which the Company was entitled under a royalty-
sharing agreement it entered into with Research
Corporation in 1979, Statutory interest to the date of
the verdict would have increased the amount awarded
to approximately $42.2 miliion.

Also in the first quarter of 2003, the Company
recorded charges totaling $8.7 million ($5.6 million after
tax) primarily related to a management consolidation
and productivity initiative in the Environmental and
Process Technologies segments and within the “All
Other” category. The amounts of $5.3 million ($3.5 mil-
lion after tax), $2.6 million ($1.6 million after tax) and
$0.8 million ($0.5 million after tax) were reported in the
Environmental Technologies segment, the Process
Technologies segment and the “All Other” category,
respectively. These charges are included in the “Special
(credits)/charges, net” line in the “Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.”

In the Environmental Technologies segment,
the charge of $5.3 million primarily relates to the clo-
sure of the segment’s Coleford, United Kingdom plant
($2.8 million) and employee severance costs related
to productivity initiatives ($2.5 million). The employee
severance charges include an actual reduction of
96 salaried and 8 hourly employees. As a result of clos-
ing this plant, the segment will outsource the canning
operations associated with this business. The closure
resulted in an impairment charge of $1.5 million to
write down fixed assets and other exit-related costs of
$1.3 million. As of December 31, 2003, the remaining lia-
bility associated with this charge was $0.3 million.

In the Process Technologies segment, the
charge of $2.6 million primarily relates to employee
severance and the termination of an agency agreement
associated with sales to the chemical-process market.
The employee severance charges relate to the reduc-
tion of 13 salaried employees. Selling activities associ-
ated with the termination of this agency agreement will
be covered by the segment’s internal sales force. As of
December 31, 2003, the remaining liability associated
with this charge was $0.1 million.

In the “All Other” category, the charge of
$0.8 million was for employee severance costs related
to the actual reduction of six salaried employees. As of
December 31, 2003, the remaining liability associated
with this charge was $0.1 million.

The actions undertaken by the Company in rela-
tion to the aforementioned 2003 special charges are
expected to be substantially complete by the end of 2004.

In the second quarter of 2003, the Company
recorded a charge of $7.8 million ($4.8 million after tax)
for the fair value of the remaining lease costs of certain
minerals-storage facilities no longer needed because
of productivity initiatives. As of June 30, 2003, the
Company’s Appearance and Performance Technologies
segment had ceased using these facilities and, accord-
ingly, a provision for the fair value of remaining lease




costs was reported in the “Special (credits)/charges,
net” line in the “Consolidated Statements of Earnings.”

In the second quarter of 2002, the Company
recorded a charge of $3.1 million ($1.9 million after tax)
primarily related to a manufacturing consolidation plan
within a business that serves the aerospace turbine-
engine overhaul and repair market in the Company’s
Environmental Technologies segment. This charge
includes asset write-offs of $1.7 million, employee sev-
erance costs of $0.6 million and other exit costs of
$0.8 million related to the plant closure. The employee
severance charges included the actual reduction of
43 salaried employees. These actions were substan-
tially complete by the end of 2003.

Also in the second quarter of 2002, the
Company recorded a gain of $11.0 million ($6.8 million
after tax) related to insurance settlements stemming
from events in 1997 and 1998 in which Engelhard and
other companies were victimized in an elaborate scheme
involving base-metal inventories held in third-party
warehouses in Japan. A special charge recorded by the
Company in 1997 included an inventory loss of approxi-
mately $40 million associated with the Japan matter. An
additional $20 miflion inventory loss was recorded in
1998. In the first quarter of 1998, the Company recorded
a receivable from insurance carriers and third parties

involved for approximately $20 million. As of June 30,
2002, the Company had recovered $11.2 million. In
July 2002, the Company received an additional $19.8 mil-
lion, net of legal fees, from insurance settlements reached
in June. Accordingly, the Company recorded a gain of
$11.0 million ($6.8 million after tax) in the second quarter
of 2002 in its Materials Services segment.

The Company recorded a charge of $7.1 million
($4.3 million after tax) in the second quarter of 2001
related to the redeployment of assets between the
Company's kaolin-based operations in Middle Georgia
and its petroleum refining catalyst facility in Savannah,
Georgia. Some assets previously dedicated to providing
kaolin-based products to the paper industry are being
redirected to enable the Company to produce more
value-added catalyst technologies for petroleum refin-
ing. This charge includes employee severance costs of
$3.2 million, asset write-offs of $2.6 million and other
costs of $1.3 million related to the asset redeployment
actions and productivity initiatives. The actual number
of employees terminated as a result of this action was
213 and these employees were primarily located at the
Middle Georgia facility. This charge was recorded in the
Appearance and Performance Technologies segment.
These actions were completed by the end of 2003.

The following table sets forth the components of the Company'’s reserves for restructuring costs:

Restructuring Reserves

{in millions)

Balance at December 31,2000 « -« veverree
Cash spending .........................................................
PP OVISIOM e rre et it e e s et ettt e

Balance at December 31,2001 «crrrveerrrcnreeireees
Cash spending -« rr errrrrr e
PrOVISION *+c v v v et et as et e e ae s e e

Balance at December 31, 2002 «+ -+« vrrvereririni
CaSh SPENAING +«+# v reerrrrs s e
PP OVIGION + v v v e re e s et e et e e

Balance at December 31,2008 -« e

GUARANTEES
AND WARRANTIES

In the normal course of business, the

Company incurs obligations with regard to

contract completion and product perform-
ance. Under certain circumstances, these obligations
are supported through the issuance of letters of credit.
At December 31, 2003, the aggregate outstanding
amount of letters of credit supporting such obligations
amounted to $122.6 million, of which $114.0 million will
expire in less than one year, $8.5 million will expire in
two to three years and $0.1 million will expire after

Separations Qther

Pre- Pre-

2002 2002 2003 2002 2002 2003  Total
------ $20 $ - $ - %180 $ - $ - %200
...... ©.8) - - (132 - - (159
------ 3.2 - - 1.3 - - 4.5
------ 26 - - 6.1 - - 8.7
------ 24 (0.3 - 24 0.2 - (5.3)
------ - 0.6 - - 0.8 - 14
------ 0.2 0.3 - 3.7 0.6 - 4.8
------ - 02 6o (03 @1 B 9.7
------ ©2 (01 53 (1.0) (01 33 7.2
------ $ - % - $03 $ 14 $04 $02 $ 23

five years. In the opinion of management, such obliga-
tions will not significantly affect the Company’s finan-
cial position or results of operations as the Company
anticipates fulfilling its performance obligations.

The Company accrues for anticipated prod-
uct warranty expenses on certain products. Accruals
for anticipated warranty liabilities are recorded based
upon a review of historical warranty claims experience.
Adjustments are made to accruals as claim data and
historical experience warrant. The Company’s accrual
is primarily comprised of warranty liabilities within the
non-automotive business of the Environmental Tech-
nologies segment.




The changeé in the Company’s product war-
ranty reserves for the|years ended December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 are as follows (in millionsy):

2003 2002 2001

Balance at beginning of year -+ -+ $11.1 $147  $159
Payments <o reeeeiie i 4.00 (10.1) (1.6)
Provigion(@ « -« eevereviinn 2.9 11.4 0.4
Reversal of reservef®) . «.cooovennnen - 4.9) -
Balance atend of yeari-« -+ $10.0 $11.1  $14.7

{a) In 2002, the Company experjenced product difficulties in the non-automotive
business of the Environmental, Technologies segment resulting in higher warranty
expenses.

(b} In 2002, the Company reduced its warranty accrual for a particular stationary-
source, emission-control capital equipment project by 84.9 million as a result of
improved catalyst technology|that reduced estimated costs.

INVENTORIES

Inventories at December 31, 2003 and
2002 consist of the following:

Inventories

(in mittions) 2003 2002

Raw materialg - --ovoee EERRTTETPRTIRER R $121.3 $ 954

WOrk in process -« ««ooveeteriiananaenn 48.1 77.0

Finished goods: -« orereierei 2562  237.4

Precious metals -+« oderrene _17.2 17.4
$442.8 $427.2

Total inventorigs - -« «-riverarerrirreenne

The majority of the Company’s physical metal is carried
in the committed metal positions line on the balance
sheet at fair value with the remainder carried in the
inventory line at historical cost. The inventory portion of
precious metals are stated at LIFO cost. The market
value of the precious metals recorded at LIFO
exceeded cost by $52.8 million and $58.3 million at
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Net earn-
ings include after-tax gains of $3.1 million in 2003 and
2002, and $3.4 million in 2001 from the sale of precious
metals accounted for under the LIFO method.

In the normal|course of business, certain cus-
tomers and suppliers ideposit significant quantities of
precious metals with the Company under a variety of
arrangements. Equivalent quantities of precious metals
are returnable as product or in other forms. Metals held
for the accounts of customers and suppliers are not
reflected in the Company'’s financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of

the following:

(in millions) 2008 2002
Land cerrererrermre s $ 305 § 278
Buildings and building improvements - - - 264.5 244.4
Machinery and equipment «---c-coeeeenen 1,654.8 1,508.6
Construction in progress - - «reeeveveses 81.3 94.6

Mineral deposits and mine
development costg - «vrrvreeieeeenen 82.7 73.8
2,113.8 1,949.2

Accumulated depreciation
and depletion -« «-cc-orvrieii 1,233.0 1,088.7
Property, plant and equipment,net--  $ 880.8 $ 860.5

Mineral deposits and mine development costs consist
of industrial mineral reserves including kaolin, atta-
pulgite and mica. The Company does not own any min-
ing reserves or conduct any mining operations with
respect to platinum, palladium or other metals. The
Company capitalized interest of $3.0 million in each of
2003, 2002 and 2001.

INVESTMENTS

The Company has investments in

affiliates that are accounted

for under the equity method.
These investments are N.E. Chemcat Corporation (N.E.
Chemcat), Heesung-Engelhard, Engelhard-CLAL and
Prodrive-Engelhard. N.E. Chemcat is a 38.8%-owned,
publicly traded Japanese corporation and a leading
producer of automotive and chemical catalysts, elec-
tronic chemicals and other precious-metals-based
products. Heesung-Engelhard, a 49%-owned joint
venture in South Korea, manufactures and markets cat-
alyst products for automobiles. Engelhard-CLAL manu-
factured and marketed certain products containing
precious metals and was substantially liquidated as of
December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2003, the
Company’s ownership in the remaining Engelhard-
CLAL operations has decreased from 50% to 45%.
Prodrive-Engelhard, a 50%-owned joint venture in the
United States, specializes in the design, development
and testing of vehicle emission systems.




The unaudited financial information below rep-
resents a summary of the Company’s Engelhard-CLAL
investment on a 100% basis, unless otherwise noted:

Financial Information wnaudited)

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Earnings data:
Revenueg --««orovreeveiiniiinnns $127.4 $366.9 $892.1
Gross profit- oo e 19.0 32.7 51.6
Netearnings -----orreeeereeeen. 101 (18.6) 28.4
Engelhard’s equity
investment impairment------ - (57.7) -
Engelhard’s equity in
netearnings -« oreereeeens 19.6 1.6 14.2
Balance sheet data:
Current assets -« ooveveeevens $ 283 $148.8 $264.9
Noncurrent assets -+« o veeenee 3.6 23.2 42.3
Current liabilitieg: - -----oooo - - 10.6 63.2 100.4
Noncurrent liabilities +--«--+---- - 3.6 271
Netassets--reoeerrrviennnen 213 105.2 179.7
Engethard’s equity
investment. - - - 6.0 88.6

In the third quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $57.7 million associated with its
Engelhard-CLAL joint venture. On September 19, 2002,
the Company and its partner, Fimalac, formally agreed
to adopt a plan to unwind their Paris-based joint ven-
ture, Engelhard-CLAL. The Company received a distri-
bution in the form of cash and operating assets of
approximately $16.0 million in the fourth quarter of
2002 net of the working capital requirements of the dis-
tributed operating assets and a cash distribution of
approximately $26.0 million net of costs in 2003. As of
December 31, 2003, the Engethard-CLAL joint venture
has been substantially liquidated.

The unaudited financial information below
represents an aggregation of the Company’s non-
subsidiary affiliates, excluding Engelhard-CLAL, on a
100% basis, unless otherwise noted:

Financial Information wnaudited)

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Earnings data:
Revenue -+« - rreereeennns $483.3 $644.6 $748.2
Gross profit----ov oo 138.1 109.7 106.4
Net earnings «-«oreovvereeinin. 43.4 33.2 34.4
Engelhard’s equity in
netearnings -« oo 19.8 14.6 14.9
Balance sheet data:
Current assets -« rrrreeeiene $345.1  $306.0 $286.6
Noncurrent assets ----o----vo0 e 198.3 182.6 165.5
Current liabilities:»:voro--oveee 125.6 155.8 148.5
Noncurrent liabilities -+ -+ 51.5 24.7 20.8
Netassets - voovmovroiinnnns 366.3 308.1 282.8
Engelhard’s equity
investment: oo 152.5 126.8 116.3

The Company’s share of undistributed earnings of affil-
iated companies included in consolidated retained
earnings were earnings of $75.8 miliion, $41.4 million
and $87.1 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Dividends from affiliated companies were $5.0 million
in 2003, $3.9 million in 2002 and $4.2 million in 2001.

In the second quarter of 2002, the Company
recorded an impairment charge of $6.7 million ($4.1 mil-
lion after tax) associated with a non-equity investment.
The write-down was taken to reflect the lower current
value of an investment in fuel-cell developer Plug
Power Inc. This investment was made as part of agree-
ments between the two companies for development of
advanced materials for fuel cells. The carrying amount
of this investment has been reduced to its estimated
fair value based on quoted market prices. The Company
considered this market decline to be other than tempo-
rary. Plug Power Inc. designs and develops on-site
electric power generation systems utilizing proton
exchange membrane fuel cells for stationary applica-
tions. This impairment charge was reported in the
Company’s “All Other” category and was recorded in
“Loss on investment” in the Company’s “Consolidated
Statements of Earnings.”

COMMITTED METAL POSITIONS AND
HEDGED METAL OBLIGATIONS

Both spot metal positions and deriva-

tive instruments are stated at fair value.

Fair value is based on published market
prices. The following table sets forth the Company’s
unhedged metal positions included in committed
metal positions at December 31, 2003 and 2002 on
the Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets™:

Metal Positions Information

(in mittions) 2003 2002
Net Net
position  Value position Value
Platinum
group metals -+ Long $10.1 Long $16.6
Gold ---eeeeees Long 0.7 Long 1.1
Silver e Short 0.6 Long 0.4
Basemetals -+ -+ Long _ 20 Short 23
Total unhedged
metal positions: $134 $20.4

Committed metal positions may include significant
advances made for the purchase of precious metals
that have been delivered to the Company but for which
the final purchase price has not yet been determined.
As of December 31, 2003, the aggregate market value
of the metals purchased under a contract for which a
provisional price had been paid was in excess of the
amounts advanced by a total of $92.9 million. As a
result, this amount was recorded in committed metal
positions and accounts payable at December 31, 2003.



Derivative metal and foreign currency instru-
ments are used to hedge metal positions and obliga-
tions. As of December 31, 20083, approximately 99% of
these instruments have settlement terms of less than
one year, with the remaining instruments expected to
settle within 36 months. These derivative metal and for-
eign currency instruments consist of the following at
December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Metal Hedging Instrumbnts

(in mitlions) 2003 2002
Buy Sell Buy Sell
Metal forwards/
futures: - eeneeee $848.4 $719.4 $1,2345 $494.4
Eurodollar futures - - - - . 4341 127.4 113.0 86.0
Swaps: et 19.7 54 4.7 7.7
Options «««-reveereees ' 33.6 14.6 101.7 98.7
Foreign exchange
forwards/futures
-Japaneseyen--- - 97.3 - 48.9
Foreign exchange
forwards/futures
~Eurg -ooeeeeeeen - 37.9 - 43.2
FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Company’s nonderivative finan-

ciallinstruments consist primarily of

cash in banks, temporary invest-
ments, accounts receivable and debt. The fair value of
financial instruments in working capital approximates
book value. The fair value of long-term debt was
$409.3 million as of December 31, 2003 and $267.0 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2002 based on prevailing inter-
est rates at those dates, compared with a book value of
$390.6 million as of December 31, 2003 and $247.8 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2002.

The Company believes that its financial instru-
ments do not represent a concentration of credit risk
because the Company deals with a variety of major
banks worldwide, and its accounts receivable are
spread among a number of major industries, cus-
tomers and geographic areas. A centralized credit
committee reviews significant credit transactions and
risk-management issues before the granting of credit,
and an appropriate level of reserves is maintained. in
addition, the Company monitors the financial condition
of its customers to help ensure collections and to mini-
mize losses.

Foreign Currency Instruments Aggregate foreign
exchange transaction gains and losses were not signifi-
cant for any year presented. The following table sets
forth, in U.S. dollars, the Company’s open foreign
exchange contracts used for hedging other than metal-
related transactions as of the respective year-ends (see

Note 11, “Committed Metal Positions and Hedged
Metal Obligations,” for further detail):

Foreign Exchange Contracts Information

(in mitlions) 2003 2002
Buy Sell Buy Sell
Japaneseyen «:.-cieeenens $28 $ 80 $147 $03
Australiandollar----------- - - - 0.1
EUrQ «oem v 454 101.9 34.0 60.0
Tha| baht«----ceereeiianns - 2.4 - -
South Africanrand-----. - - 23.2 - 7.2
Brazilianreal---------ooh et - 2.3 - 0.8
Total open foreign
exchange contracts----  $48.2 $137.8 $487 $68.4

None of these contracts exceeds a year in dura-
tion. These contracts were marked to market at
December 31, 2003 and 2002.

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS
AND LONG-TERM DEBT

At December 31, 2003, the Company

had two unsecured committed

revolving credit agreements for
$400 million each with a group of major North American
banks and foreign banks. The $400 million, five-year
agreement expires in May 2006, and the $400 million,
364-day agreement expires in May 2004. Management
intends to renew, and possibly increase, the $400 miilion
committed credit facility that expires in May 2004. In
connection with these credit facilities, the Company has
agreed to certain covenants, including maintaining a
debt-to-EBITDA ratio of less than 3:1 (as defined in the
credit agreements). Throughout 2003, the Company was
fully compliant with all of its debt covenants.

in October 2003, the Company entered into
a new seven-year committed revolving credit facility
with two major foreign banks for $12 million relating to a
plant expansion in China. This new credit facility expires
in October 2010. Facility fees are paid to both banks for
this new credit line. As of December 31, 2003, the
Company borrowed $2.4 million under this credit facility.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, short-term
bank borrowings were $16.8 million and $136.7 million,
respectively. Weighted-average interest rates were
12.4%, 2.0% and 4.1% during 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Long-term debt due within one year was
$0.1 million and $0.2 mitlion at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, commercial
paper borrowings were $51.5 million and $212.0 mil-
lion, respectively. Weighted-average interest rates
were 1.3%, 1.9% and 4.1% during 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

Unused, uncommitted lines of credit available
were $428 million at December 31, 2003. The
Company'’s lines of credit with its banks are available in
accordance with normal terms for prime commercial




borrowers and are not subject to commitment fees or
other restrictions.

Through a public debt offering in May 2003,
the Company issued $150 million of 10 year notes.
These notes mature on May 15, 2013 and bear an inter-
est rate of 4.25%. The proceeds were used to repay
short-term borrowings. As discussed in Note 2,
“Derivative Instruments and Hedging,” these notes
were effectively changed from a fixed rate debt obliga-
tion to a floating rate debt obligation through the use of
interest rate swap agreements. The notes were issued
under the Company's existing $300 million shelf regis-
tration, effectively reducing the available shelf registra-
tion to $150 million. Plans to increase the shelf
registration up to $450 million are under consideration
by management. Plans to issue $50 million to $150 mil-
fion in Japanese yen denominated notes are also under
consideration by management.

The following table sets forth the components
of long-term debt at December 31, 2003 and 2002:

Debt Information

{in miillions) _ 2003 2002
Notes, with a weighted-average interest

rate of 12.1%, dug 2006 -« ----vvernvenns $ 140 $ 141
7.375% Notes, due 20086, net of discount -+ 106.1 107.0
4.25% Notes, due 2013, net of discount---- 142.6 -
6.95% Notes, due 2028, net of discount:---- 118.7 118.6

Industrial revenue bonds, 5.375%,

dUe 2006 - v e e 65 65
Foreign bank loans with a weighted-

average interest rate of 5.0%,

AUE 2090 -+ v vvrereemeare i 24 1.2
Other, with weighted-average rates of

6.3% and 10.0%, due 2004-2008 - ----+--- 0.4 0.6

390.7 248.0

Amounts due within oneyear -+« ---oove _ 01 0.2

Total long-term debt -+ cvrevveenninns $390.6 $247.8

As of December 31, 2003, the aggregate maturities
of long-term debt for the succeeding five years are
as follows: $0.1 million in 2004, $0.1 million in 2005,
$126.7 million in 2006, $0.1 million in 2007 and
$263.7 million thereafter,

Interest expense was $24.3 million in 2003,
compared with $27.4 million in 2002 and $47.3 million in
2001. Interest expense in 2003 decreased due to
decreased borrowings, partially offset by higher for-
eign short-term interest rates. Interest expense in 2002
decreased due to decreased borrowings and lower
short-term interest rates. Interest income was $4.0 mil-
lion in 2003, $2.0 million in 2002 and $3.3 million
in 2001.

INCOME TAXES

The components of income tax
expense are shown in the follow-
ing table:

Income Tax Expense

{in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Current income tax expense
Federal - orroemeernes $ 151 %248 §$ 88
Stateand local -+ - ooeeiiieennn 4.5 13.3 3.3
Foreign » - svreerereeii 47.8 15.6 27.5
67.4 53.7 39.6
Deferred income tax
expense/(benefit)
Federal -« - vereiiveeniinnnn, 215 12.3 38.1
Stateand local:- - srevreiieienns (5.2) (1.1) 6.5
FOTQIGN ««++ - rverererrmnennsanens (19.5) 1.6 4.5)
(3.2) 12.8 40.1
Income tax expense -+ $64.2 - 3665 $79.7

The foreign portion of earnings before income tax
expense was $120.1 million in 2003, $10.1 million in
2002 and $112.6 million in 2001. The decrease in 2002
was primarily due to the Engelhard-CLAL equity invest-
ment impairment charge of $57.7 million recorded in
the third quarter of 2002. Taxes on income of foreign
consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates are provided
at the tax rates applicable to their respective foreign
tax jurisdictions.

The following table sets forth the components
of the net deferred tax asset that result from temporary
differences between the amounts of assets and liabili-
ties recognized for financial reporting and tax purposes:

Net Deferred Income Tax Asset

(in miftions) 2003 2002
Deferred tax assets
Accrued liabilities ----- - ooreeiiiinn $187.8 $167.0
Noncurrent liabilitigs -« oreveeeeeeeenens 59.4 60.4
Unrealized net loss — pension liability --- 427 51.0
Tax credits/attribute carry-
forward amounts <= ceeriee i 89.2 65.1
Total deferred tax assets «-++---voo- - 37941 343.5
Valuation atlowancg:««««-»coovvveenennnnes (22.8) 1.7
Total deferred tax assets, net
of valuation allowance -+« x--e 356.5 331.8
Deferred tax liabilities «-v-overreeenennn.
Prepaid pension expenseg: -« «o--oeees (54.2) (45.6)
Property, plant and equipment----------- 68.0) (38.8)
Timing of dealing results: -« o--oeeveeeees (47.4) (71.3)
Otherassets -« > oo, (76.7) (64.4)
Total deferred tax liabilities -+ 246.3) (220.1)
Net deferred tax asset ---«-+ -+ $110.2 $ 1117

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effect of tempo-
rary differences between the amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts




as measured for tax purposes. The Company will estab-
lish a valuation allowarice if it is more likely than not
that these items will either expire before the Company
is able to realize their benefits, or that future deductibil-
ity is uncertain. Periodically, the valuation allowance is
reviewed and adjusted based on management’s assess-
ment of realizable deferred tax assets.

Net current deferred tax assets of $83.3 million
(net of a $1.2 million valuation allowance) and $60.2 mil-
lion (net of a $1.2 million valuation allowance) at
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively,
are included in other current assets and net noncurrent
deferred tax assets of $26.9 million (net of a $21.4 mil-
lion valuation allowance) and $51.5 million (net of a
$10.5 million valuation allowance) at December 31,
2003 and December:31, 2002, respectively, are
included in other intangible and noncurrent assets in
the Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets.”

At December, 31, 2003, the Company had
approximately $24.9 million of foreign tax credit carry-
forwards of which $9.2: million will expire in 2006 and
$15.7 million will expire in 2008. The Company had
a $15.7 million valuation allowance against these for-
eign tax credits. The Company also had approximately
$5.0 million of research and development credits, of
which $3.5 million will expire in 2022 and $1.5 million
will expire in 2023 and approximately $9.1 million of for-
eign net operating losses of which $5.0 million will
expire in 2005, $0.5 million will expire in 2007, $1.9 mil-
lion will expire in 2008 and $1.7 million will carry for-
ward indefinitely. Minimum tax credit carryforwards at
December 31, 2003 totaled approximately $38.5 million
and will carry forward indefinitely. At December 31,
2003, the Company also had approximately $281.6 mil-
lion of state net operating loss carryforwards expiring
at various intervals between 2006 and 2023.

A reconciliation of the difference between the
Company’s consolidated income tax expense and the
expense computed at the federal statutory rate is
shown in the following table:

Consolidated Income Tax Expense Reconciliation

(in miliions) 2003 2002 2001
Income tax expense at federal
statutory rate: -+ v $105.2 $83.3 $106.8
State income taxes, !
net of federal effect -1+ 29 7.9 5.4
Percentage depletion «--+i-wvvvo (14.6) (19.5) (7.8)
Equity earnings - «----ooeeereeieeann (0.9) 3.6 (3.5)
Equity investment impairment
with no tax benefit----+-ooooveeens - 20.2 -
Taxes on foreign income which
differ from U.S. statutory rate - -- 19.9 3.0 1.5
Tax creditg: - oeeeeeeeeee T 51.7) (187  (20.3)
Export sales exclusion -+« -- ©.7) (10.5) (6.8)
Non-deductible goodwill +:--- -+ - - - 2.0
Valuation allowance-- -« o-ooevenn 10.9 5.6 2.5
Otheritems, net-- - coveevenennae 2.2 (1.2) 4.9
$ 642 $665 $79.7

Income tax expenseg - --is-rre

No provision has been made for U.S. or additional foreign
taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign sub-
sidiaries because such earnings are expected to be
reinvested indefinitely in the subsidiaries’ operations. At
December 31, 2003, the Company’s share of the cumula-
tive undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries upon
which potential additional U.S. taxes have not been pro-
vided was approximately $493.6 million. It is not practi-
cal to estimate the amount of additional tax, net of
applicable foreign tax credits, that might be payable on
these foreign earnings in the event of distribution or sale.
However, under existing law, foreign tax credits would be
available to substantially reduce U.S. taxes payable.

RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business,

the Company has related party

transactions with its equity affili-
ates, including N.E. Chemcat, Engeihard-CLAL and
Heesung-Engelhard. The Company’s transactions with
such entities amounted to: purchases-from of $21.6 mil-
lion in 2003, $26.0 million in 2002 and $4.0 million in
2001; sales-to of $37.2 million in 2003, $36.4 million in
2002 and $17.1 million in 2001; and metal leasing-to of.
$0.6 million in 2003, $1.1 million in 2002 and $2.6 million
in 2001. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, net amounts
due from such entities totaled $0.6 million and $1.9 mil-
lion, respectively.

Citibank, N.A., a subsidiary of Citigroup Inc.,
which reports beneficial ownership of more than 5% of
our Common Stock, participated with other lenders
in lines of credit available to Engelhard under revolv-
ing credit facilities. Citibank’s total commitment is
$39,000,000, none of which was drawn in 2003. In 2003,
Citibank received an initial fee of $10,000 and annual
facility fees of $34,000 for these facilities. Citigroup
received $85,000 in underwriting fees in our May 13,
2003 note offering. We use subsidiaries of Citigroup, as
well as other firms, to provide cash management serv-
ices to Engelhard. Fees to subsidiaries of Citigroup for
these services aggregated less than $30,000 in 2003. In
addition, Barclays Global Investors, N.A., which reported
beneficial ownership of more than 5% of our Common
Stock prior to July 2003, provides certain investment
management services to Engelhard’s pension plans.
Fees for such services aggregated approximately
$135,000 in 2003,

Barclays Bank, plc, an affiliate of Barclays
Global Investors, subsidiaries of Citigroup and other
firms, engage in foreign exchange and commodities
transactions with Engelhard in the ordinary course of
business. All of these transactions are negotiated at
arms length as principals in competitive markets. During
20083, foreign exchange transactions with subsidiaries of




Citigroup aggregated approximately $126,600,000 and
metals transactions with Barclays Bank, plc aggregated
approximately $330,000,000. in addition, during 2003,
Engelhard provided services in precious metals financ-
ing transactions in which subsidiaries of Citigroup and
Barclays Bank, pic received funds from third parties.
Engelhard received approximately $157,372 in fees from
subsidiaries of Citigroup and approximately $8,000 in
net revenues from these transactions in which Barclays
Bank, plic participated.

Vanguard Group, an affiliate of Vanguard
Windsor Funds, which reports beneficial ownership of
more than 5% of our Common Stock, received
$100,293 for administering 401(k) plans for our employ-
ees during 2008.

BENEFITS

The Company has domestic and for-

eign pension plans covering sub-

stantially all employees. Plans
covering most salaried employees generally provide
benefits based on years of service and the employee’s
final average compensation. Plans covering most
hourly bargaining unit members generally provide ben-
efits of stated amounts for each year of service. The
Company makes contributions to the plans as required
and to such extent contributions are currently
deductible for tax purposes. Plan assets primarily con-
sist of listed stocks, fixed income securities and cash.

The following table sets forth the plans’ funded status:

Funded Status
2003 2002

fin miltions) Domestic Foreign Total Domestic  Foreign Total
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year-- - -+ $441.6 $ 995 $541.1 $374.6 $78.1 $4527
SEIVICE COSt -+ rmrrre i 15.6 2.9 185 13.3 2.3 15.6
INterest COSt - v 28.6 58 34.5 27.2 5.1 323
Plan amendments -+ «-rooveeeeiii 3.4 1.2 4.6 0.4 3.5 3.8
Engethard-CLAL asset distribution -« -----oovveeeiin. - 211 211 21.9 0.4 22.3
Actuarial |0SSes « -+ rrrvrre 34.2 0.6 34.8 34.9 4.1 38.0
Benefits paid- -« vooervee (27.2) 4.0) (31.2) (30.7) @.1) (34.8)
Foreign exchange -« - 17.1 17.1 - 10.1 10.1

Projected benefit obligation atend of year--+--++--- -+ $ 496.2 $144.3 $640.5 $441.6 $995 $5411
Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year---«--«---onv $324.2 $ 811 $4053 $306.7 $76.0 $382.7
Actual gain/(loss) on plan assets: -« -« v 52.7 6.6 59.3 (24.0) (2.6) (26.8)
Employer contribution <+ «oeeerinieiii 38.2 4.3 42.5 54.6 1.7 56.3
Benefits paid- oo (27.2) (4.0) (31.2) (30.7) 4.1 (34.8)
Engethard-CLAL asset distribution «+---reevvvereeiinnn - 23.2 23.2 176 0.5 18.1
Foreign exchange: -« «+-ooroeerniiniiin - 14.0 14.0 - 9.6 9.6

Fair value of plan assets atend of year «+--++oveoveeeinns $387.9 $125.2  $513.1 $324.2 $81.1  $405.3
Funded status <+ --oervrvei $(108.3) $(19.1)  $(127.4) $(117.4) $(18.4) $(135.8)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss -« -ovvrormeereraeinnn 2015 46.0 2475 1911 454 236.5
Unrecognized prior service Cost -+ r-rrvrrerrriienine 11.8 5.0 16.8 9.5 3.7 13.2
Fourth quarter contribution «-+ - croereereee - 0.4 0.4 - 04 0.4

Prepaid pension asset <+ $1050 _$ 323 $1373 $ 832 $311  $1143
Amounts recognized in the consolidated

balance sheets consist of:
Prepaid benefit Gost: -« «worerecrmrien $ 743 $ 335 $107.8 $ 67.9 $ - 8 679
Accrued benefit liability- -« oo (70.8) 9.8) (80.6) 81.2) (13.2) (94.4)
Intangible agset: v v 1.9 35 54 23 36 59
Accumulated other comprehensive 108 -« ovrrreereeraans 99.6 5.1 104.7 94.2 40.7 134.9

Net amount recognized -« sermsrinereeree $105.0 $ 323 %1373 $ 83.2 $311  $1143

The prepaid benefit costs of $107.8 million and $67.9 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002,
respectively, and the intangible asset balances of
$5.4 million and $5.9 mitlion at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively, are included in other intangible and
noncurrent assets in the Company’s “Consolidated
Balance Sheets.” The Company recorded a minimum
pension liability gain of $30.2 million ($21.1 million after
tax) in 2003 and a minimum pension liability loss of
$91.9 million ($57.7 million after tax) in 2002. These

adjustments were reported in “Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss” within shareholders’ equity.

included in the Projected Benefit Obligation is
a liability of $38.0 million at September 30, 2003 related
to the Supplemental Retirement Program of Engelhard
Corporation. This program is an unfunded program that
provides enhanced benefits for certain executive offi-
cers as well as makes up for the amount that cannct be
paid out of the qualified plans due to Internal Revenue
Service limitations.




The following table setsiforth certain information regarding the plans benefit obligations (in millions):

2003 2002
Domestic  Foreign Total Domestic Foreign Total

Accumulated Benefit Obligation «-«««rvvveeiivai $431.0  $131.7 $562.7 $385.4 $92.8 $478.2
Aggregate Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) for those

plans with PBOs in excess of plan assets «-«-ocevrevereeennnn 411.0 144.3 565.3 365.1 99.4 464.5
Aggregate fair value of assets for those plans with PBOs

inexcess of plan assets ror-orvrorerri 276.4 125.3 401.7 228.2 81.1 309.3
Aggregate Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) for

those plans with ABOs in excess of plan assets -«-«-ovoee o 3326 40.6 373.2 296.5 92.8 389.3
Aggregate fair value of assets for those plans with ABOs in

excess of plan assets - «veree i 262.0 32.8 294.8 215.2 81.1 296.3
The components of net periodic pension expense for all plans are shown in the following table:
Net Periodic Pension Expense
(in mittions) 2003 2002 2001

Domestic  Foreign Total Domestic Foreign  Total Domestic Foreign Total

Service Cost e« rerreeriens $15.6 $29 §$185 $13.3 $23 $156 $13.1 $16 $147
Interest cost - v reveeereiein s 28.6 59 34.5 27.2 5.1 32.3 25.7 4.2 29.9
Expected return on

planassets - rooroieeeenns (35.6) 6.7) (423 (33.4) 7.7 @41 (32.9) (7.8) (40.7)
Amortization of prior

Service cost «rveereeien 1.4 0.7 2.1 1.2 0.3 1.5 1.3 0.9 2.2
Amortization of

transition asset- -+ .-+ e - - - - 0.7 0.1) (0.9) 0.1 (0.5)
Recognized actuarial loss - - 6.4 22 8.6 3.0 1.1 4.1 2.0 0.5 2.5

Net periodic

Pension expense -+« - $16.4 $50 $21.4 $11.3 $10 $123 $ 88 $0.7) $ 8.1

The Company uses September 30 as the measurement date for pension assets and liabilities. The assumptions
chosen to measure the lcurrent years’ liabilities are also used to determine the subsequent years’ net periodic pen-
sion expense. The following table sets forth the key weighted-average assumptions used in determining the
worldwide projected benefit obligation:

2003 2002 2001
Domestic  Foreign  Domestic  Foreign  Domestic Foreign

Discount rate used to detérmine projected

benefit obligation------- R A IRETETEEECRPRETRPL LY 6.25% 5.50% 6.75% 5.77% 750% 6.02%
Discount rate used to determine net

PEriodiC Pension COStS i« rrrrrrer s 6.75% 5.77% 7.50% 6.02% 7.75% 6.02%
Rate of compensation increase used to determine

projected benefit obligation ««-+--ooeereeriiiiii 3.75% 3.65% 3.75% 3.83% 425% 3.87%
Rate of compensation increase used to determine net

periodiC pension Costg -« «« rrrrirrrr i 3.75% 3.84% 4.25% 3.85% 4.50% 3.87%
Expected returnon plan assets -« oerveeiiiiii 9.00% 7.00% 10.00% 8.43% 10.25% 9.1%%

The Company’s weighted-average asset allocations at December 31, 2003 and 2002 by asset category are as follows:

2003 2002
Domestic  Foreign Total Domestic Foreign  Total
Equity securities «--oevreme i 69% 44% 63% 66% 46% 62%
Debt SECUNtIES <« v v vrrrirrr 30% 56% 36% 32% 54% 37%
OTNEE v v v ee et e e e s e e et 1% - 1% 294 - 1%
100% 100% 100% 100% 100%  100%

The Pension and Employee Benefit Plans Committee, a
committee currently comprising six members of the
Engelhard Corporation Board of Directors, is estab-
lished to review pension-related matters, set corporate
investment policy and monitor performance.

Investment risk is controlled by placing invest-
ments in various asset classes using a combination of
active and passive investment strategies. The pension
plan assets are allocated to multiple investment
management firms. These firms cover a broad range




of investment styles and are combined in a way that
seeks to diversify capitalization, style biases and inter-
est rate exposures.

Engelhard, through its pension consultants

and actuaries, performs periodic asset/liability studies
that seek an investment strategy to provide the optimal
investment risk/return scenario for meeting the future
retirement plan obligations. These studies are a tool
used for determining the allocation of investments
among various asset classes. investments are placed
predominantly in the following asset classes:

// Equity: Common stocks of large, medium and small
companies including equity securities issued by com-
panies domiciled outside the United States and in
depository receipts that represent ownership of secu-
rities of non-U.S. companies.

// Fixed Income: Fixed income securities issued or
guaranteed by the U.S. government, and to a lesser
extent by non-U.S. governments, or by their respec-
tive agencies and instrumentalities; and mortgage-
backed securities, including collateralized mortgage
obligations, corporate debt obligations and dollar-
denominated obligations issued in the United States
by non-U.S. banks and corporations (Yankee bonds).

In certain circumstances, investment managers
are given the authority for the limited use of derivatives.

Futures contracts, options on futures and interest rate

swaps are occasionally employed in place of direct

investment in securities to gain efficient exposure to
markets. Derivatives are not used to leverage portfolios.

The Company used a 9% return to calculate its domestic net pericdic pension expense in 2003 and will use a 9%
return to calculate its domestic net periodic pension expense in 2004, This calculation was based on the following:

Equ|ty SOCUNIIES v e vt e e
Debt secuUrities s« cvvrrer e e
Total DOMESHC POFHOIO- -+« rreerreretmeermereaeairaieannns

Market Active All-in
expected management  expected  Portfolio
return expectation return weight
---------- 9.5% 0.5% 10.0% 69.0%
--------- 6.5% 0.4% 6.9% 31.0%
--------- 8.5% 0.5% 9.0% 100.0%

The Company used the weighted-average 7% return to calculate its foreign net pericdic pension expense in 2003
and will use the weighted-average 7% return to calculate its foreign net periodic pension expense in 2004, This

calculation was based on the following:

EqL“ty SRCUMEIES s v v vttt i e e s
Debt SeCUNtIES - - r r v e e
Total Foreign POrtfolio - v s

The Company expects to contribute approximately
$3.5 million to its domestic pension plans and $4.1 mil-
lion to its foreign pension plans during 2004.

The Company also sponsors three savings
plans covering certain salaried and hourly paid employ-
ees. The Company’s contributions, which may equal up
to 50% of certain employee contributions, were
$4.6 million in 2003, $4.3 million in 2002 and $4.1 million
in 2001. These amounts were recorded as an expense in
the Company’s “Consolidated Statements of Earnings.”

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company Stock
Fund of the Salary Deferral Savings Plan of Engelhard
Corporation has been designated as an Employee
Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) as permitted under the
Internal Revenue Code. Contributions to the plan may
be made directly by the employee or as part of the
employer matching contributions noted above.
Employer contributions are recorded as expense at fair
market value in the period in which they are earned.
Dividends are paid on these shares to the extent a divi-
dend is declared and paid on the Company’s common
stock. Dividends are charged to retained earnings
when they are declared. As of December 31, 2003, the

Market Active All-in
expected management expected  Portfolio
return expectation return weight
--------- 8.0% 0.5% 8.5% 45.0%
---------- 5.0% 0.4% 5.4% 55.0%
--------- 8.5% 0.5% 7.0% 100.0%

ESOP held 1,959,109 shares of Company Stock. These
shares are considered outstanding for determining
basic and diluted earnings per share.

The Company also currently provides post-
retirement medical and life insurance benefits to cer-
tain retirees (and their spouses), certain disabled
employees (and their families) and spouses of certain
deceased employees. Substantially all U.S. salaried
employees and certain hourly paid employees are eligi-
ble for these benefits, which are paid through the
Company’s general health care and life insurance pro-
grams, except for certain medicare-eligible salaried
and hourly retirees who are provided a defined contri-
bution towards the cost of a partially insured health
plan. In addition, the Company provides postemployment
benefits to former or inactive employees after employ-
ment but before retirement. These benefits are
substantially similar to the postretirement benefits, but
cover a much smaller group of employees. Effec-
tive January 1, 2003, the Company eliminated post-
retirement benefits for those employees (excluding
employees under collective bargaining agreements)
hired on or after January 1, 2003.




The following table sets forth the components
of the accrued postretirement and postemployment
benefit obligation, all of which are unfunded:

Postretirement and Postémployment Benefits

(in millions) 2003 2002
Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year------ $146.4 $1285
ServiCe COSt r- ree et 34 3.1
Interestcogt ++o-oovieniiene R TR 9.3 9.2
Actuarial losses -+ veeeenne L REXETRREE 12.4 12.0
Engelhard-CLAL asset distribution---«------ 0.5 4.9
Benefits paid --cxooeeieeen L EREEEEPEE (12.3) (12.8)
Benefit obligation atend of year -+-«-- -+ $159.7 $144.9
Unrecognized netlosg - -veeerevvvincinen, (35.9) (24.2)
Unrecognized prior service cost---««-- ..o+ 5.1 10.9
Accrued benefit obligation ««- - x-vveee $1289 31316

The postretirement and postemployment benefit
balances of $128.9 million and $131.6 million at
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respec-
tively, are included in other noncurrent liabilities in the
Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets.”

The components of the net expense for these
postretirement and postemployment benefits are
shown in the following table:

Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits

(in mittions) 2003 2002 2001
Components of Net Periodic
Benefit Cost ‘
SErvice COSt «rrrerrrerera iy $34 $31 %28
Interest Coste« rorerrrreeiihe 9.3 9.2 9.1
Net amortization :+++------- b 49 (58 _(58
Net periodic benefit cost -« v - $78 $65 $6.1

|

The weighted-average discount rate used in determin-
ing the actuarial present value of the accumulated
postretirement and postemployment benefit obligation
is 6.25% for 2003 and 6.75% for 2002. The average
assumed health care cost trend rate used for 2003 is
5% to 8%. A 1% increase in the assumed health care
cost trend rate would have increased aggregate service
and interest cost in 2003 by $0.9 million and the accu-
mulated postretirement and postemployment benefit
obligation as of December 31, 2003 by $8.2 million. A
1% decrease in the assumed health care cost trend
rate would have decreased aggregate service and
interest cost in 2003 by $1.5 million and the accumu-
lated postretirement and postemployment benefit obli-
gation as of Decemberi31, 2003 by $13.6 million.

On December 8, 2003, the President of the
United States signed into law the Medicare Prescription
Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the
Act). This Act introdu¢es a prescription drug benefit
under Medicare (Medicare Part D), as well as a federal
subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare benefit plans
that provide a benefit that is at least actuarially equiva-
lent to Medicare Part D. In accordance with FASB Staff
position 10641, the Company has elected to defer the

accounting for this Act until specific authoritative guid-
ance is issued on how to account for the subsidy.
Accordingly, the Company’s benefit obligation and net
periodic benefit cost do not reflect the effects of this
Act. The Company may be required to amend its plan in
order to benefit from this legislation.

STOCK OPTION AND
BONUS PLANS

The Company’s Stock Option Plans
of 1999 and 1991, as amended (the
Key Option Plans), generally provide
for the granting of options to key employees to pur-
chase an aggregate of 5,500,000 and 16,875,000 com-
mon shares, respectively, at fair market value on the
date of grant. No options under the Stock Option Plans
of 1999 and 1991 may be granted after December 186,
2009 and June 30, 2003, respectively.
In 1993, the Company established the Employee
Stock Option Plan of 1993, as amended, which gener-
ally provided for the granting to all employees (exclud-
ing U.S. bargaining unit employees and key employees
eligible under the Key Option Plans) of options to pur-
chase an aggregate of 2,812,500 common shares at fair
market value on the date of grant. No additional options
may be granted under this plan. in 1995, the Company
established the Directors Stock Option Plan, which
generally provides for the annual granting to each non-
employee director the option to purchase up to 3,000
common shdres at the fair market value on the date of
grant. Options under all plans become exercisable in
four installments beginning after one year, and no
options may be exercised after 10 years from the date
of grant.
On May 2, 2002, shareholders approved the
2002 long-term incentive compensation plan. The plan
provides for the grant to eligible employees and direc-
tors of stock options, share appreciation rights (SARs),
restricted shares, restricted share units, performance
units and other share-based awards. An aggregate of
6,000,000 shares of common stock have been reserved
for issuance under the plan, of which no more than
500,000 shares may be issued in connection with
awards other than options and SARs. All terms and
conditions of each grant have been set on the date of
grant, including the grant price of options which is
based on the fair market value on the day of grant. No
grants may be made under the plan after March 7, 2012.
The weighted-average fair value at date of
grant for options granted during 2003, 2002 and 2001
was $8.42, $8.62 and $8.13, respectively. Fair value of
each option grant is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fol-
lowing assumptions were used:

2003 2002 2001
Dividend yield -+ orerevee 15-20% 14-1.8% 1.5-1.8%
Expected volatility-------- 35-36% 36% 35-36%
Risk-free interest rate----- 3.2-3.8% 3.1-3.8% 3.8-51%
Expected life (years)------ 67 5-6 5




Stock option transactions under all plans are as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
average average average
exercise exercise exercise
Number price Number price Number price
of shares  pershare of shares  pershare of shares  pershare
Outstanding at beginning of year:--++-voovennen 11,520,857 $20.34 12,915,835 $19.32 17,686,507 $18.20
Granted - e 1,351,892 $24.28 1,352,754 $25.61 1,317,008 $24.55
Forfeited - - ovveevvriini (111,459) $19.39 (51,129) $19.56 (187,330) $19.40
Exercised «cooorrvirriini (1,747,779) $19.36  (2,696,603) $18.09  (5,800,350) $17.15
Outstandingatend of year- -~ r-oomveinennns 11,013,511 $20.98 11,520,857 $20.34 12,915,835 $19.32
Exercisable atend of year----r-voovvvveiniennn 7,411,637 $19.57 7,777,411 $19.26 9,472,409 $18.92

Available for future grants -« -« oeeeeveen 7,579,411 8,951,711 4,253,336

The following table summarizes information about fixed-price options cutstanding at December 31, 2003:

W‘Z'\?Qrfgé Options outstanding Options exercisable
remaining Number  Weighted- Number  Weighted-
contractual  outstanding average exercisable average
Range of life at exercise at exercise
exercise prices (years) 12/31/03 price 12/31/03 price
$14.211022.38 -+ vvrervrorni 1-2 1,199,423 $18.44 1,189,423 $18.44
1734102388 - cvvvvreii 3-5 3,155,610 $19.83 3,155,610 $19.83
17.811020.75 - coverernmrni 8 1,590,812 $18.69 1,452,343 $18.77
16,8410 1B.75 - cvereriniinii 7 1,167,846 $16.87 876,635 $16.87
2275102690 -+ e 8 1,207,421 $24.69 506,699 $24.26
22,8010 2B.75 v rrerr i 9 1,346,339 $25.60 220,927  $27.086
20.471029.99 v 10 1,346,060 $24.30 - -
11,013,511 $20.98 7,411,637 $19.57

The Company’s Key Employee Stock Bonus Plan, as
amended (the Bonus Plan) provides for the award of up
to 15,187,500 common shares to key employees as
compensation for future services, not exceeding
1,518,750 shares in any year (plus any canceled awards
or shares available for award but not previously
awarded). The Bonus Plan terminates on June 30, 2006.
Shares awarded vest in five annual instaliments, pro-
vided the recipient is still employed by the Company on
the vesting date. Compensation expense is measured
on the date the award is granted and is amortized on a
straight-line basis over five years. Shares awarded are
considered issued and outstanding at the date of grant
and are included in shares outstanding for purposes of
computing diluted earnings per share. Employees have
both dividend and voting rights on all unvested shares.
In 2003 and 2002, the Company granted 149,905 and
158,200 shares to key employees at a fair value of
$20.47 and $28.11, respectively, per share. Unvested
shares were 596,670 and 674,930 at December 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively. Shares available for grant
under this plan are 1,350,095 at December 31, 2003.

Compensation expense relating to stock
awards was $4.7 million in 2003, $5.0 million in 2002
and $4.4 million in 2001.

The Company has certain deferred compensa-
tion arrangements where shares earned under the
Engethard stock bonus plan are deferred and placed
in a “Rabbi Trust.” Until February 2001, the plan per-
mitted employees to convert their deferred stock bal-
ance to deferred cash under certain conditions. In
February 2001, the Company terminated this deferred
cash option. With the termination of the deferred cash
option, increases/decreases in the deferred compensa-
tion liability will no longer be recognized in earnings.
Shares held in the trust are recorded as treasury stock
with the corresponding liability recorded as a credit
within shareholders’ equity.

For the year ended December 31, 2001, the
Company recognized expense of $0.8 million related to
the increase in the value of its common stock held in a
Rabbi Trust for deferred compensation from $20.38 at
December 31, 2000 to $22.65 at February 1, 2001 (as
the deferred cash option was terminated at this time).
At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Rabbi Trust held
455,876 and 399,029 shares, respectively, of Engelhard
Corporation Common Stock. The value of the Rabbi
Trust at historical cost was $10.4 million and $9.4 million
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.




EARNINGS
PER SHARE

SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share”

specifies the computation, presen-

tation and disclosure requirements
for basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS). The follow-
ing table represents the computation of basic and diluted
EPS as required by SFAS No. 128

Earnings Per Share Computations
Year ended December 31

(in millions, except per-share data) 2003 2002 2001
Basic EPS Computation
Net income applicable to

COMMON Shareg: -« -+« xrvese $234.2 $171.4 $2256
Average number of shares

outstanding — basic- - -+----- 125.4 128.1 130.0

Basic earnings pershare----  $ 187 $ 1.34 § 1.73

Diluted EPS Computation
Net income applicable to

COMMON Shareg: -«  vveeean $234.2 $171.4 $2256
Average number of shares :

outstanding - basic---«--ee----- 125.4 128.1 130.0

Effect of dilutive stock options
and other incentives:---- EREREE 1.9 2.4 2.2

Total number of shares
outstanding —diluted -+-+---
Diluted earnings per share--

127.3
$ 1.84

130.5
$ 1.31

132.2
$1.71

Options to purchase additional shares of common
stock of 1,820,004 (at a price range of $26.90 to $29.99),
1,282,641 (at a price range of $26.90 to $28.75) and
570,380 (at a price of $26.90) were outstanding at the
end of 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, but were not
included in the computation of diluted EPS because the
options’ exercise prices were greater than the average
annual market price of tjhe common shares.

BUSINESS SEGMENT AND
GEOGRAPHIC AREA DATA

The |ICompany has four reportable

business segments: Environmental

Technologies, Process Technologies,
Appearance and Performance Technologies and
Materials Services.

The Environmental Technologies segment,
located principally in the United States, Europe and
South Africa, markets ¢ost-effective compliance with
environmental regulations, enabled by sophisticated

emission-control technologies and systems. The seg-
ment also provides high-value material products
made principally from platinum group metals, as well
as thermal spray and coating technologies.

The Process Technologies segment, located
principally in the United States and Europe, enables
customers to make their processes more productive,
efficient, environmentally sound and safer through the
supply of advanced chemical-process catalysts, addi-
tives and sorbents.

The Appearance and. Performance Technolo-
gies segment, located principally in the United States,
South Korea, China and Finland, provides pigments,
effect materials and performance additives that enable
its customers to market enhanced image and function-
ality in their products. This segment serves a broad
array of end markets, including coatings, plastics, cos-
metics, automotive, construction and paper. The seg-
ment’s products help customers improve the look,
performance and overall cost of their products. In
addition, the segment is the internal supply source
of precursors for most of the Company’s advanced
petroleum-refining catalysts.

The Materials Services segment, located prin-
cipally in the United States, Europe and Japan, serves
the Company’s technology segments, their customers
and others with precious and base metals and related
services. This is a distribution and materials services
business that purchases and sells precious metals,
base metals and related products and services. It does
so under a variety of pricing and delivery arrangements
structured to meet the logistical, financial and price-
risk management requirements of the Company, its
customers and suppliers. Additionally, it offers the
related services of precious-metal refining and storage,
and produces precious-metal salts and solutions.

Within the “All Other” category, sales to exter-
nal customers and operating earnings/(losses) are
derived primarily from the Ventures business. The sale
of precious metals accounted for under the LIFO
method, royalty income and other miscellaneous
income and expense items not related to the reportable
segments are included in the “All Other” category.

The majority of Corporate operating expenses
have been charged to the segments on either a direct-
service basis or as part of a general allocation. Environ-
mental Technologies and, to a much lesser extent,
Process Technologies utilize metal in their factories in
excess of that provided by customers. This metal is
provided by Materials Services.




The following table presents certain data by business segment:

Business Segment Information

(in miftions)
2003
Net sales to

external customers .-
Operating earnings/(loss) -+ -+ -+
Special charges/(credits), net -
Interestincome «««veeoeeeeennns
Interest expense -« «-oooeeeiies
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization: oo
Equity in earnings of affiliates- -
Incometaxes: - - - i
Total assets «---oeverereeeenn
Equity investments -+ ee e
Capital expenditureg -« -«
2002
Net sales to

external customers---.---- -
Operating earnings/(loss) ---- -~
Special charges/(credits), net- -
Interest income ««+--coeieeennn
Interest expensg -« ---vvveeennns
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization------oeve- e
Equity in earnings of affiliates- -
Equity investment impairment-
|ncome taXeS ....................
Total assets «+---orveveeeeiinnn
Equity investments «----evoeee
Capital expendituresg«--------+-
2001
Net sales to external customers
Operating earnings/(loss) -+-- -~
Specialcharge:---+- vvooveeees
Interestincome ««««rvvveeeinns
Interest expenseg -« --vvneiians
Depreciation, depletion

and amortization::----oceeeee
Equity in earnings of affiliates -
Income taxes: - -oorerreeiniis
Total assets .....................
Equity investments <. eeeens
Capital expenditures-----------

Appearance
and Reportable
Environmental Process Performance Materials Segments All
Technologies  Technologies  Technologies  Services Subtotal Other Total
$831.4 $569.2 $653.8  $1,608.3 $3,662.7 $ 51.8 33,7145
119.3 95.9 69.5 10.1 12948 (13.20@  281.6
52 2.6 7.8 - 15.6 (27.6) (12.0)
- - - - - 4.0 4.0
- - - - - 24.3 24.3
31.3 26.0 49.1 1.9 108.3 19.4 127.7
12.0 - - - 12.0 27.4 39.4
- - - - - 64.2 64.2
739.4 319.7 606.3 586.6 2,252.0 681.0 2,933.0
49.6 - - - 49.6 102.9 152.5
231 29.5 30.6 7.0 90.2 234 113.6
$680.4 $538.8 $650.8  $1,836.0 $3,706.0 $ 476 $3,753.6
109.2 93.0 87.1 52.7 342.0 (30.5@  311.5
3.1 - - (11.0) (7.9 - 7.9
- - - - - 20 2.0
- - - - - 27.4 27.4
270 24.0 46.0 2.3 99.3 14.3 113.6
8.2 - - - 8.2 8.0 16.2
- - - - - 57.7 57.7
- - - - - 66.5 66.5
595.2 5724 795.3 641.2 2,604.1 416.6 3,020.7
31.5 - ~ - 31.5 101.3 132.8
40.2 18.4 29.4 5.2 93.2 20.1 113.3
$646.7 $568.2 $634.4  $3,207.9 $5,057.2 $ 39.7 $5,096.9
142.4 94.3 46.5 56.1 339.3 (19.2@  320.1
- - 71 - 7.1 - 7.1
- - - - - 33 33
- - - - - 47.3 473
21.5 246 51.4 1.3 98.8 9.7 108.5
8.6 - - - 8.6 205 29.1
- - - - - 79.7 79.7
506.9 563.4 799.7 593.1 2,463.1 532.4 2,9955
23.0 - - - 23.0 181.9 2049
68.7 304 36.9 8.2 144.2 24.7 168.9

(a) Includes pretax gains on the sale of certain precious metals accounted for under the LIFO method of $5.2 million in 2003, $5.1 million in 2002 and $5.3 million in 2001.




The following table presents certain data by geographic area:

Geographic Area Data i
(in millions) : 2003 2002 2001
Net sales to external customers:
UNIEEA SEALES -« r e e e $1,860.4 $2,0104 $2,983.9
T ey To N AT | L 1,854.1 1,743.2 2,113.0
Total consolidated net sales to external CUSIOMErs -+ -« e v $3,714.5 $3,753.6 $5,096.9
Long-lived assets: .
UNIEE G SEAtES -+« + v v v fret et e ittt it e e et e $1,098.4 $1,089.3 $1,092.5
IEEEAALIONAL -+ -« ++ + e vt e st et ta et ettt e e e et ettt e e et e 255 1 216.5 245.1
Total IoNg-HVed @SS -+« - v rrerr e $1,353.5 $1,305.8 $1,337.6

The Company’s international operations are predominantly based in Europe.

The following table reconciles segment operating earnings with earnings before income taxes as shown in the

Company's “Consolidated Statements of Earnings”:

Segment Reconciliations

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Net sales to external customers:
Net sales for reportable[segments <« «xocvrer i $3,662.7 $3,706.0 $5,057.2
Net sales for Other DUSINESS UNILS <+« +««+-r«rrrrermm e om s me ettt 43.5 35.0 32.0
1K) e R R R R R R R R R TR T R R 83 12.6 7.7
Total consolidated net sales to external customers:-- -« oo vve i $3,714.5 $3,753.6  $5,096.9
Earnings before income taxes:
Operating earnings for reportable SegMENtS: <« - vrv i $ 2948 $ 3420 $ 3393
Operating earnings/(loss) for other business UNitg - corrrrrrrie e - 0.4 0.9
Other operating l0ss — COrPOIAtE: -+« -« xre s ts ettt (13.2) (30.9) (18.3)
Total operating @arning s« «- -« s e $ 2816 $ 3115 $ 320.1
Interest iNCOME:« <+« P 4.0 20 33
[EEIEST BXPEIMSE «- - v e eeme e s e et et et e (24.3) (27.4) (47.3)
EQUItY in SarNINgGs 0f AffHlIALES: - +++ -+« = xesrerem et 394 16.2 291
Equity investment impai‘rment ........................................................................ - (57.7) -
Loss on investment -« - e e e e e - 6.7) -
Earnings before inCome tax@s -« -+« «rrvreer $ 3007 §$ 2379 § 3052
Total assets ‘
Total assets for reportable SEgmMents -« v e e $2,252.0 $2,604.1 $2,463.1
Assets for other DUSINESS UNItS -« v orrvrverrrerrrn e 17.1 30.3 28.5
TN e ST T 663.9 386.3 503.9
Total consolidated @SSEtS <= -« -« v v rrrr e $2,933.0 $3,020.7 $2,995.5
Equity investments for reportable Segments -+ - oo $ 496 $ 315 § 230
Equity investments — All Other «+ oo 102.9 101.3 181.9
Other investments not cartied on the equity method: -+ - vevee i 6.2 4.0 8.6
Tota| investments ................................................................................... $ 1587 $ 1368 $ 2135

An unaffiliated customer of the Environmental Tech-
nologies and Materials Services segments accounted for
approximately $217 million, $625 million and $796 million

of the Company’s net sales in 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Sales of precious metal to this customer
were significantly lower in 2003.




LEASE
COMMITMENTS

The Company rents real prop-

erty and equipment under long-

term operating leases. Rent
expense and sublease income for all operating leases
are summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001

ReNts paid- -+ -coorrrre $36.2 $35.2  $33.0

Less: sublease income: -+ --vooreees (1.2) (1.1) (1.3)
Rent expense, net <+ voeeeeenes $35.0 $34.1  $31.7

Future minimum rent payments at December 31, 2003,
required under noncancellable operating leases, hav-
ing initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one
year, are as follows:

(in miltions)
DO0G - oo e $ 33.8
DO0S e et e 223
DOOB ccrerrer v e 16.1
DOOT v vv et e e e 14.3
D08 - - v rwrrar e e e 141
Thereafter -+ vrveeeec 69.3
Total minimum lease payments: -« -ooveerereanns 169.9
Less: minimum sublease income -« -« +rveveeeens 2.2)
Net minimum lease payments ««««xcereovernen $167.7

In 2000, the Company entered into a sale-leaseback
transaction for $97.3 million for machinery and equip-
ment that is used in the Process Technologies segment.
The term of this operating lease is five years. The
Company expects to renew this lease at the end of the
lease term in 2005. in 1998, the Company entered into
a sale-leaseback transaction for $67.2 million for
property that serves as the principal executive and
administrative offices of the Company and its oper-
ating businesses. The term of this operating lease is
20 years.

ENVIRONMENTAL
COSTS

With the oversight of environmental

agencies, the Company is currently

preparing, has under review, or is
implementing environmental investigations and
cleanup plans at several currently or formerly owned
and/or operated sites, including Plainville,
Massachusetts. The Company is continuing to investi-
gate contamination at Plainville under a 1993 agree-
ment with the United States Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA). The Company is continuing to address
decommissioning issues at Plainville under authority
delegated by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission to
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

In addition, as of December 31, 2003, nine
sites have been identified at which the Company
believes liability as a potentially responsible party is
probable under the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as
amended, or similar state laws (collectively referred to
as Superfund) for the cleanup of contamination and
natural resource damages resulting from the historic
disposal of hazardous substances allegedly generated
by the Company, among others. Superfund imposes
strict, joint and several liability under certain circum-
stances. In many cases, the dollar amount of the claim
is unspecified and claims have been asserted against a
number of other entities for the same relief sought from
the Company. Based on existing information, the
Company believes that it is a de minimis contributor of
hazardous substances at a number of the sites refer-
enced above. Subject to the reopening of existing set-
tlement agreements for extraordinary circumstances,
discovery of new information or natural resource dam-
ages, the Company has settled a number of other
cleanup proceedings. The Company has also
responded to information requests from EPA and state
regulatory authorities in connection with other Super-
fund sites.

The accruals for environmental cieanup-
related costs reported in the consolidated balance
sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $19.3 mil-
lion and $18.5 million, respectively, including $0.1 mil-
lion at December 31, 2003 and 2002 for Superfund
sites. These amounts represent those undiscounted
costs that the Company believes are probable and rea-
sonably estimable. Based on currently available infor-
mation and analysis, the Company’s accrual represents
approximately 40% of what it believes are the reason-
ably possible environmental cleanup-related costs of a




noncapital nature. The estimate of reasonably possible
costs is less certain than the probable estimate upon
which the accrual is based.

Cash paymehts for environmental cleanup-
related matters were $1.8 million in each of 2003 and
2002 and $1.7 million in 2001. The amounts accrued in
connection with environmental cleanup-related mat-
ters were not significant over this time period.

For the past three-year period, environmental-
related capital projects have averaged less than 10% of
the Company’s total capital expenditure programs, and
the expense of enviranmental compliance (e.g., envi-
ronmental testing, permits, consultants and in-house
staff) was not material.

There can be no assurances that environmen-
tal laws and regulations will not become more stringent
in the future or that the Company will not incur signifi-
cant costs in the future to comply with such laws and
regulations. Based on existing information and cur-
rently enacted envirocnmental laws and regulations,
cash payments for environmental cleanup-related mat-
ters are projected to bé $1.5 million for 2004, which has
already been accrued. Further, the Company antici-
pates that the amounts of capitalized environmental
projects and the expense of environmental compliance
will approximate currept levels. While it is not possible
to predict with certainty, management believes envi-
ronmental cleanup-related reserves at December 31,
2003 are reasonable and adequate, and environmental
matters are not expected to have a material adverse
effect on financial condition. However, if these matters
are resolved in a manr}er different from the estimates,
they could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s operating results or cash flows.

LITIGATION AND
CONTINGENCIES

The Company is one of a num-
ber of defendants in numerous
proceedings that allege that the
plaintiffs were injured from exposure to hazardous sub-
stances purportedly supplied by the Company and
other defendants or that existed on company premises.
The Company is aiso subject to a number of environ-
mental contingencies (see Note 21, “Environmental
Costs,” for further detail) and is a defendant in a num-
ber of lawsuits covering a wide range of other matters.
In some of these matters, the remedies sought or dam-
ages claimed are substantial. While it is not possible to

predict with certainty the ultimate outcome of these
lawsuits or the resolution of the environmental contin-
gencies, management believes, after consultation with
counsel, that resolution of these matters is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on financial
condition. However, if these matters are resolved in a
manner different from management’s current expecta-
tions, they could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s operating results or cash flows.

The Company is involved in a value-added tax
dispute in Peru. Management believes the Company
was targeted by corrupt officials within a former
Peruvian government. On December 2, 1999, Engelhard
Peru, S.A., a wholly-owned subsidiary, was denied
refund claims of approximately $28 million. The
Peruvian tax authority also determined that Engelhard
Peru, S.A. is liable for approximately $63 million in
refunds previously paid, fines and interest as of
December 31, 1999. Interest and fines continue to
accrue at rates established by Peruvian law. The
Peruvian Tax Court ruled on February 11, 2003 that
Engelhard Peru, S.A. was liable for these amounts,
overruling precedent to apply a “form over substance”
theory without any determination of fraudulent partici-
pation by Engelhard Peru, S.A. The Tax Court is part of
the Peruvian Ministry of Economics and Finance.
Engelhard Peru, S.A. is contesting these determina-
tions vigorously, and management believes, based on
consultation with counsel, that Engelhard Peru, S.A. is
entitled to all refunds claimed and is not liable for these
additional taxes, fines or interest. In late October 2000,
a criminal proceeding alleging tax fraud and forgery
related to this value-added tax dispute was initiated
against two Lima-based officials of Engelhard Peru,
S.A. Although Engelhard Peru, S.A. is not a defendant, it
may be civilly liable in Peru if its representatives are
found responsible for criminal conduct. In its own
investigation, and in detailed review of the materials
presented in Peru, management has not seen any evi-
dence of tax fraud by these officials. Accordingly,
Engelhard Peru, S.A. is assisting in the vigorous
defense of this proceeding. Management believes the
maximum economic exposure is limited to the aggre-
gate value of all assets of Engelhard Peru, S.A. That
amount, which is approximately $30 million including
unpaid refunds, has been fully provided for in the
accounts of the Company.




COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) are as follows:

Minimum Total

Cash flow Foreign pension accumulated

derivative currency liability Investment other

adjustment, translation  adjustment, adjustment, comprehensive

(in miftions) netoftax adjustment net of tax net of tax income/{loss)
Balance at December 31,2000 -+ ---vereeene $ $ (51.0) $ - $ - $ (51.0)
Period change: -« eorermieieii, (4.6) (51.0) (25.4) - 81.0)
Balance at December 31,2007 -+ -vevvvvvenees 4.6) (102.0) (25.4) - (132.0)
Period change: -« rorrvrererienniienee 4.4 70.3 57.7) 0.2 16.8
Balance at December 31,2002 <+« -vveveeees 0.2) (31.7) (83.1) 0.2) (115.2)
Period change: -« - ovreeerreiiiniien (0.1) 77.8 211 05 99.3
Balance at December 31,2003 - -+ vevevveenns $(0.3) $ 461 $(62.0) $03 $ (15.9)

SUPPLEMENTAL
INFORMATION

The following table presents

certain supplementary infor-

mation to the Company's “Con-
solidated Statements of Cash Flows™:

Supplementary Cash Flow Information

(in millions) 2003 2002 2001
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest «--crvvriee $ 259 $281 $48.7
Income taxes:« -« rovveeereirnne 48.2 31.4 95.1
Materials Services related:
Change in assets and liabilities —
source/{use):
Receivables - --oovveieniens $ 118 5 (45 $135
Committed metal positions:-- - 341.8 (25.3) 62.3
Inventories «+--coeveeerines 0.8 (1.0) -
Other current assets: -+oorovve e 0.2) 16.4 2.2
Other noncurrent assets «-+«-- -~ - 0.2 0.2
Accounts payable -----c-eeeeenes 4.6 11.8 (16.8)
Other current liabilities -+« -+ (26.2) (27.7) (1.9)
Net cash flows from changes
in assets and liabilities ----  $332.6  $(30.1) $59.7

Supplementary Cash Flow Information (continued)

(in miltions) 2003 2002 2001
All Other:
Change in assets and liabilities -
source/(use):
Receivables -« - voeeenrenns $@81 $ 77 $980
Inventories -« -xooreieeieenn 1.9 (7.4) (29.2)
Other current assets-«««------ - 44 0.9 15.8
Other noncurrent assets «-+---- (29.6) 6.0 8.1
Accounts payable «--reoeerenens (23.4) 27.9 (32.8)
Other current liabilities <+ -+ -+ 0.4 (7.1) 62.5)
Noncurrent liabilities +--------- - 5.7 (30.9) (20.5)
Net cash flows from changes in
assets and liabilities - -+ -+ $(48.7) $ 4.7) $(23.1)

The following tables present certain supplementary infor-
mation to the Company’s “Consolidated Balance Sheets”:

Supplementary Balance Sheet information

(in miltions) 2003 2002
Other current assets
Prepaid insurance -« - e $ 104 $ 103
Current deferred taxes -« ++-eoovvrreieeennn 83.0 60.2
Other ........................................... 193 244
Other current assets «««o vrrresreonnineens $112.7 $ 949
Other current liabilities -
Income taxes payable <« rerveeenies $ 713 $ 592
Payroli-related accruals »«««---rovveeeinennes 68.3 69.4
Deferred revenue: -« -cororvreeriieeeine, 5.6 10.3
Interest payable «--ovverrvre i 6.4 3.1
Restructuring reserves <« »«rrveveeeeennees 2.3 48
Product warranty reserves -« --«corareeiee 10.0 11.1
Environmental accrual. - -coeriiieeen 1.5 2.8
Refining reserves ««rcoreoovereiininn, 0.6 3.0
Other o verveer i 120.9 111.6
Other current liabilitigs: -« voveveveeiennns $286.9 $275.3




MANAGEMENT’S REPORT //

The Company is responsible for preparation of the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the
related consolidated statements of earnings, share-
holders’ equity and cash flows. They have been pre-
pared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, which have
been applied on a consistent basis, and management
believes that they present fairly the Company'’s consoli-
dated financial position, results of operations and cash
flows. The integrity of the information presented in the
financial statements, including estimates and judg-
ments relating to mattérs not concluded by fiscal year-
end, is the responsibility of management. To fulfill this
responsibility, an internal control structure, designed to
protect the Company/'s assets and properly record
transactions and events as they take place, has been
developed, placed in ioperation and maintained. The
internal control structure is supported by a program of
internal audits and is tested and evaluated by the inde-
pendent auditors to the extent considered necessary
by them in expressingian opinion on the consolidated

financial statements. The Board of Directors pursues its
responsibility for financial information and review
through an Audit Committee of Directors who are not
employees. The internal auditors and the independent
auditors have full and free access to the Committee,
and periodically the Committee meets to discuss the
results of audits, the adequacy of the internal control!
structure and the guality of financial reporting.

Barry W. Perry
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Wﬂwﬁ—

Michael A. Sperduto
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS //

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Engelhard Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheets of Engelhard Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related con-
solidated statements of earnings, cash flows and share-
holders’ equity for the years then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. The
consolidated financial statements of Engelhard
Corporation and subsidiaries as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other audi-
tors who have ceased operations. Those auditors
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial
statements in their report dated January 31, 2002, before
the revisions in disclosures described below.

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evalu-
ating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2003 and 2002 consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Engelhard
Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003
and 2002, and the consolidated results of their opera-
tions and their cash flows for the years then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

As described in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company adopted Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards (“Statement”)
No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,
effective January 1, 2003. As discussed in Notes 1 and
3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company adopted Statement No. 142, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets, effective January 1, 2002.

As discussed above, the consolidated finan-
cial statements for Engelhard Corporation as of
December 31, 2001 and for the year then ended were
audited by other auditors who have ceased operations.
Note 3 to these consolidated financial statements has
been revised to include the transitional requirements of
Statement 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
Note 186 has been revised to separately disclose infor-
mation regarding domestic and foreign pension plans
and to provide additional information on key pension
assumptions. In Note 24, the Company separately dis-
closed cash flows from changes in assets and liabilities
related to Materials Services. Our audit procedures
consisted of agreeing the previously reported net
income and earnings per share amounts in Note 3 to
previously reported amounts, and the additional and
expanded disclosures in Notes 3, 16 and 24 to underly-
ing records obtained from management, and testing
the mathematical accuracy of the tables in the afore-
mentioned Notes. In our opinion, these revisions and
disclosures are appropriate. However, we were not
engaged to audit, review, or appiy any procedures to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements for
2001 other than with respect to such revisions and dis-
closures and, accordingly, we do not express an opin-
ion or any other form of assurance on the Company’s
2001 consolidated financial statements taken as
a whole.

St ¢

Ernst & Young LLP
MetroPark, New Jersey

LLP

February 2, 2004




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS //

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
Engelhard Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated bal-
ance sheets of Engelhard Corporation and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related con-
solidated statements of earnings, cash flows and share-
holders’ equity for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2001. These consolidated finan-
cial statements are theiresponsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States. Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and signi-
ficant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the finan-
cial position of Engelhard Corporation and subsidiaries

as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in
conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States.

Arthur Andersen LLP
New York, New York
January 31, 2002

Note: Reprinted above is a copy of the report previously
expressed by such firm which has ceased operations.
The reprinting of this report is not equivalent to a cur-
rent reissuance of such report as would be required if
such firm was still operating. The consolidated balance
sheet as of December 31, 2001 and the consolidated
statements of earnings, cash flows and shareholders’
equity for the two years ended December 31, 2001
referred to in this report have been included in the
accompanying financial statements. Because such firm
has not consented to the inclusion of this report in this
Form 10-K, your ability to make a claim against such
firm may be limited or prohibited.




DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND MANAGEMENT //

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BARRY W. PERRY 7.5
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
Engelhard Corporation

MARIGN H. ANTONIN] 7345
Principal
Kohlberg & Company

DAVID L. BURNER
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
Goodrich Corporation

JAMES V. NAPIER 235
Retired Chairman of the Board
Scientific-Atianta, Inc.

NORMA T. PACE 25
Partner
Paper Analytics Associates

HENRY R. SLACK 3.5
Chairman
Terra Industries Inc.

DOUGLAS G. WATSON .24
Chief Executive Officer
Pittencrieff Glen Associates

1 Executive Committee
(Barry W. Perry, Chairman)
2 Audit Committee
(Douglas G. Watson, Chairman)
3 Compensation Committee
(Marion H. Antonini, Chairman)
4 Nominating and Governance Committee
{Marion H. Antonini, Chairman)

5 Pension and Employee Benefit Plans Committee

(James V. Napier, Chairman)

ELECTED OFFICERS

BARRY W. PERRY
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

ARTHUR A. DORNBUSCH, It
Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

MARK DRESNER
Vice President,
Corporate Communications

JOHN C. HESS
Vice President,
Human Resources

MAC G.P. MAK
Treasurer

PETER B. MARTIN
Vice President,
investor Relations

ALAN J. SHAW
Controller

MICHAEL A. SPERDUTO
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

OPERATING MANAGEMENT

GEORGE C. HSU

Vice President, Asia Pacific
Engelhard Corporation
President,

Engelhard Asia Pacific, Inc.

STEPHEN D. LUX

Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Appearance and Performance
Technologies

ERIC P. MARTENS

Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Materials Services

MICHAEL T. MCDONNELL
Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Environmental Technologies

VICTOR L. SPRENGER
Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Process Technologies

DAVID M. WEXLER
Vice President,
Mergers and Acquisitions

EDWARD T. WOLYNIC

Group Vice President and
General Manager,
Strategic Technologies and
Chief Technology Officer




INVESTOR INFORMATION //

ANNUAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

The annual meeting of shareholders of Engeihard
Corporation will be held at the Sheraton at Woodbridge
Place, 515 Route 1 South, Iselin, N.J. on Thursday,
May 6, 2004 at 9:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time.

COMMON STOCK LISTINGS

New York Stock Exchange (Symbol: EC)
Chicago Board Options Exchange
SWX Swiss Exchange|

OFFICE OF INVESTOR RELATIONS

Engelhard Corporation

101 Wood Avenue

PO.Box 770

Iselin, NJ 08830-0770
Investor.Relations@engelhard.com
1-800-458-9823 ‘
1-732-205-5000

SEC FORM 10-K

Copies of Engelhard’s fForm 10-K report to the Securities
and Exchange Commission for 2003 are available to
shareholders. Please mail or e-mail your request for
copies to the Investor Relations office.

DIVIDEND DISBURSING AGENT, DIVIDEND
REINVESTMENT AGENT, STOCK TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR

Mellon Investor Services
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
1-800-851-9677
www.melloninvestor.com

For the hearing and speech impaired, telecommunica-
tions devices for the deaf (TDD) are available at 1-800-
231-5469. Callers from outside the United States may
call at 1-201-329-8660.

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

Engelhard Corporation offers shareholders the opportu-
nity to participate in a convenient and cost-saving pro-
gram that automatically reinvests dividends in the
purchase of additional shares of common stock. For infor-
mation on the plan, contact Mellon Investor Services.

DUPLICATE MAILINGS

Shareholders receiving multiple copies of Engelhard
reports can help reduce printing and mailing costs.
Please notify us of duplicate mailings by providing the
appropriate names and account numbers to:

Mellon Investor Services

Record Keeping

85 Challenger Road

Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660

(Notification will not affect dividend or proxy mailings.)

TRADEMARKS

Product designations appearing in italics through-
out this publication are either registered or unregis-
tered trademarks and service marks of Engelhard
Corporation and its affiliates.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A comprehensive guide to company developments,
including current earnings reports, dividend infor-
mation, stock price performance and key invest-
ment ratios, is available on Engelhard’s Web site at
www.engethard.com. Click on “Investor Information.”
This annual report is printed on paper enhanced
by Engelhard’s high-performance kaolin-based pigments.

COMMON STOGK DATI-{ (UNAUDITED)

As of March 1, 2004, there were 4,876 holders of record
of Engelhard’s common stock. The range of market
prices and cash dividends paid for each quarterly
period were:

NYSE dividgﬁég
Market Price  ~ paid per
High Low share
2003
First quarter ....oevevvevnrivevnenne. $19.02 $0.10
Second quarter.... 21.26 0.10
Third quarter........c.ccveevcnnee, 24.08 0.10
Fourth quarter.......cceeiien 27.18 0.11
2002
First quarter .....cceoeoneciicencaenns $31.16  $25.02 $0.10
Second quarter........oov e, 33.00 26.62 0.10
Third quarter ..o vccnennennne 29.00 22.44 0.10
Fourth quarter.........ccccooevvnirenns 25.44 21.18 0.10
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101 Wood Avenue
P0.Box 770
ENGELH%IRD Iselin, New Jersey 08830-0770

Change the nature of things. www.engelhard.com




